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Project Overview

A. Survey Objectives

One of the duties of the Montebello Historic Preservation Commission (HPC) is to conduct
surveys of significant historic, architectural, and cultural landmarks and historic districts within
the Village of Montebello. To meet this duty, the HPC obtained a Certified Local Government
(CLG) grant for arreconnaissance survey through the auspices of the State Historic Preservation
Office, which is asection of the New Y ork State Office of Parks, Recreation, and Historic
Preservation. After issuing a Request for Proposals and interviewing several professional
historic preservation consulting firms, the Village, at the behest of the HPC, hired Larson Fisher
Associates, Inc. for the project.

The goal of this survey was to compile abasic level of architectural dataon all buildingsin the
Village of Montebello constructed on or before 1960 and to associate each of them with periods
and themes determined to have historic and/or architectural significance. A number of historic
properties had been previoudy identified, which provided a starting point for the fieldwork
undertaken and an understanding of the devel opment eras they represent. The information from
thissurvey is provided in two formats: 1) this report which provides an overview and an
analysis of the findings, and 2) adigital database with specific information on each of the
buildings surveyed. These products are intended to aid the Montebello HPC in its preservation
efforts.

B. Survey Methodology

A first step in this survey was to devel op an understanding of the history of the Village, which
necessitated a review of Rockland County history to develop a context for the physical
development of the Village. The Village Historian's files were also read for both general
historical background and specific information about know historic properties. (See Appendix A
for a“Chronology of Development.”) Obtaining acomprehensive list of propertiesin the
Village with their tax parcel identification and associated address in a spreadsheet format
(Microsoft Excel) was the second step. With this accomplished, fieldwork could begin. There
are still no state or federal standards or models for digital survey projects, so a basic method has
been created by the consultant. Descriptive building data and architectural classifications were
collected in the field during March and April, 2010, and entered into this database so that the
historic resourcesin the village can be sorted and analyzed in terms of type, form, construction
method, material, period, style, location, etc. (See Appendix F.) Photographs of Montebello
buildings and structures aso were taken during the Spring of 2010. The digital format will allow
information about these properties to be updated on an ongoing basis and mapped in the future.
The database includes a column for key historical information along with the field data, which
may also be supplemented as future research is undertaken. In addition, an initial assessment of
which significance category has been included.

The relatively recent incorporation of the Village of Montebello in 1986 means that only the
development since that date can be considered Montebello devel opment, as opposed to
development of the Town of Ramapo, out of which it was formed. Thusto provide abasisfor
future evaluation of properties as they meet the 50-year threshold to be considered historic, all
developed properties as of 2010 were documented with respect to estimated construction dates.
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The survey project involved visual inspection of nearly al of the 1294 devel oped propertiesin
the Village of Montebello.> Vacant land was not included in the survey as it was difficult to
determine a clear functional or historic association with extant buildings in the field within the
scope of work involved at areconnaissance level. Over 350 digital photographs were taken to
document these buildings. Construction dates for the primary structures on the surveyed
properties were determined by several means. Assessor data from the Town of Ramapo was the
initial starting point. However, asis common, the dates provided by the Assessor were
“effective construction” dates that reflected remodeling, additions, and general updating since
the actual time of construction. Thus, historic maps were consulted to determine when the older
buildings were depicted, which allow a closer determination of particular building’s period of
construction.? For properties developed after the late 1930s, the Rockland County Clerk of Court
records were searched online for subdivision plat maps, 92 of which were downloaded for
reference.® Visual analysis of the architectural expression of the buildings and structures
provided afinal check on what the construction date would most likely have been. The historic
and subdivision maps have been referenced in the database/spreadsheet. From thisinitial step,
buildings and structures that are at least 50 years old were identified—there are 388 of these,
which comprise a second database into which the defining characteristic of these buildings (as
noted above) were entered. This second database is provided in digital form on CD and
represents the core results of the reconnaissance level historic resource survey.

Identification of archeological sites, prehistoric or historic, was beyond the scope of this survey.
Information about archeological site should not be made available to the general public in order
to protect against unauthorized digging and vandalism. When a previously undisturbed property
is being newly developed, it should be assumed there is the potential that such archeological
resources could be uncovered and, if this results, steps need to be taken to ensure their
preservation.

C. Selection & Designation Criteria

A number of Montebello’s historic resources are recommended for designation, protection, and
future study. (See Section 1V.) Selections were guided by the criteria established for evaluating
nominations to the National Register of Historic Places. When applied at alocal level of
significance, the National Register criteriais avauable tool for determining a property’s
importance in the broader historical contexts and themes that are reflected in local history. Itis
important to maintain afocus on the local perspective; otherwise notable properties can be
overlooked. Because specific historic documentation islimited at a reconnaissance level of
survey, the condition assessment is necessarily superficial and the contexts and themes only
broadly developed. Thus these selections have been asinclusive as possible. Whereas not all of
the selected properties will necessarily achieve State and National Register listings, it will be
important for the HPC to be familiar with all of the village's significant resources, including
those at the margins. Just because the New Y ork State Historic Preservation Office or the
National Park Service may choose not to confer their distinctions on a property does not in and
of itself mean the historic resource is not important to Montebello. The National Register criteria

! At least 2 properties were inaccessible and were viewed using birdseye photographs available online at
http://www.bing.com/maps/. Parks were not included in the total number of 1294; two cemeteries were.

2 Historic Mapsincluded the 1854 O’ Connor Atlas of Rockland County, the 1876 F.W. Davis Atlas of Rockland
County, the 1887 Goldthwaite Driving Map, and the 1911 Map of Suffern and Vicinity by Frederick Washburn,
surveyor. The Claire Tholl Map of 1975, depicting historic buildings and roads, was also referenced as necessary.

® http://www.rocklandcountyclerk.com/
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will still provide the HPC with the basis to make their own evaluations within an established
evaluative framework.

1. SIGNIFICANCE
There are four fundamental criteria by which the National Register assesses the significance of
historic resources. Properties are categorized as significant for:

a. their relationship to a historic event or theme significant in American history, such as
settlement, agriculture or tourism;

b. their association with an individual who made a significant contribution to the history of
the local community, state or nation;

c. their distinction as an example of atype, period or method of construction; and

d. their archeological potential to provide information about an important aspect of
prehistory or history.

Property must be at least fifty years in age to establish a suitable context for the evaluation of
significance unless it can be demonstrated that it has achieved significance in less than fifty
years. For example, buildings with outstanding architectural merit may be considered for
nomination to the National Register. Because this survey considered all development up to
present, there are a number of buildings that are noted for their potential significance under this
exception.

Section 195.60-D of the Montebello Code also establishes criteriafor historic landmark and
district designation based on significance. These criteriadirectly mirror those of the National
Register. The HPC may recommend a property for designation as aloca landmark if it:

(1) Is associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the broad patterns of
the history of the Village of Montebello, Rockland County, the Hudson River Valley
region, New Y ork State or the United States of America;

(2) Is associated with the lives of persons significant in [Montebell0’ s past;

(3) Embodies the distinctive characteristics of atype, period or method of construction or that
represent the work of a master or that possesses high artistic values or that represent a
significant and distinguishable entity whose components may lack individual distinction;

(4) Has yielded or may be likely to yield, information important in prehistory or history; or

(5) Because of unique location or singular physical characteristic, represents an established
and familiar visual feature of the neighborhood in which it is situated.

2. INTEGRITY

A property must retain sufficient physical integrity from its period of significance to be
authentic. The National Register criteria contain an integrity test to ensure that only authentic
buildings receive listings. At this reconnaissance level of survey selections are not based on
physical integrity—all properties with the potential to meet one of the criteria were recorded.
The physical integrity of aparticular property should be considered only if it reaches the status of
being considered for local designation or nomination to the National Register. However, in
documenting the village' s historic properties, a preliminary assessment was included, consisting
of three classifications: “intact,” “minimally atered,” and “significantly altered.” The “intact”
classification includes those changes, additions and alterations, that can be considered historic
within the 50-year historic timeframe.
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Historical Overview

Montebello’ s incorporation in 1986 means that the historical context for the development of its
built environment largely reflects that of the Town of Ramapo and Rockland County. Aswith
virtually all early European settlement, it was determined by available modes of transportation.
Initially development followed the navigable rivers and natural pathways. With the Ramapo
mountains forming a barrier in the western section and the Mahwah River being little more than
a stream, development of this middle portion of the county was slow in the 17" and 18"
centuries. Thefirst purchase of land in the Ramapo area from the native people occurred in 1700
by Blandina Bayard, a name that lives on in the Village of Montebello in the form of Bayard
Lane. While there was some settlement, it was 1724 before another large tract of land was
purchased in the area with resultant rampant land speculation. However, legal issues with
patents and boundaries restrained settlement to isolated farms and small milling industries reliant
on the water power afforded by the Mahwah river and its tributaries.

In the second half of the 18" century John Suffern settled in the area that would later bear his
name, the boundary line between New Y ork and New Jersey would finally be set, patent claims
settled, and the Revolutionary War would result in land surveys and road improvementsin the
area, and the State of New Y ork would pass legislation calling for construction of new roadways.
The early roadways in Rockland County ran primarily east-west, allowing for farm goods and
natural resources to be moved from the Ramapo hinterlands to the Hudson River and shipment to
the ready market of New Y ork City.
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1778-1779 Map drawn by Robert Ersk| ne,Geographer and Surveyor General of’the Revolutionary War‘.‘
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With the coming of the steamboats on the Hudson in the early 19" century and continued
roadway improvements, rural development in the area picked up pace. As technology advanced,
railroads made the western portions of Rockland County increasingly accessible. The Ramapo
area was served by a station in Suffern, which was established in 1841.

“The construction of the Erie Railroad was an invaluable aid to the growth of this
County...Not alone did it bring in ready money, by the erection of its car works
and round house, and the residence of its employees at its eastern terminus
[Piermont], but it also left amore lasting impress in the permanent devel opment
of our agricultural and mineral resources.”*

By 1860 nearly half of the acreage in Ramapo was improved and cultivated and the town was
second only to Clarkstown in total area. Even with less area, Ramapo’ s production of grain and
potatoes exceeded that of Clarkstown, while the tonnage of hay produced was only dlightly less
than its neighbor to the east. Ramapo’s production of apples exceed that of Clarkstown by 75%
and also greatly topped it in pounds of butter produced. (Clarkstown was the only town in
Rockland County that produced cheese, however.) Ramapo farmers kept arange of livestock—
horses, oxen, cows, sheep and swine. Although not quantified, considerable quantities of milk
were sent to the New Y ork City market aswell.> And although poultry was not specifically
enumerated in 1860, the farmers undoubtedly kept birds, for their own use if not for sale. Itisto
this mid-19" century period that many of Montebello’s extant farmhouses can be traced.

Orchards continued being a predominant form of the cash cropsraised. The 1880 Census
revealed that the agricultural and mineral wealth of Rockland and Orange counties outperformed
al other provincia sections of the State of New Y ork.

The railroads a so fostered tourism in Ramapo, which in the Montebello area, overlapped with
and bolstered the rural farm economy. The New Y ork Times noted the phenomenon in an 1883
article:

SUMMER RESTING PLACES-WHERE THE WEARY CITY MAN CAN
DROP HIS CARES— THE ATTRACTIONS OF COUNTRY QUIET,
HUNTING, AND FISHING OFFERED ALONG THE SOUTHERN BORDER
OF THIS STATE. Over 25,000 New-Y ork people spent the Summer of last year
at the different resorts aong the Erie Railway and its branches and connectionsin
Rockland, Orange, Sullivan, and Delaware counties, N.Y .... their “ Summer
boarder” capacity has been much increased since last season...the territory now
open to city folk [is] more than double its area of 1870...To-day, besides the
hundreds of large hotels and commaodious private boarding-houses that the
demand for quarters has made necessary, there is scarcely afarm-house between
the Passaic River and the head-waters of the Delaware which is not prepared to
“take boarders’....Suffern, 32 miles from New-Y ork, is the beginning of the
Ramapo Valley resorts, which include Ramapo, Sloatsburg, Lorillard, and
Southfields. Thisvalley would be the Summer home of thousands of city people
if its great advantages were utilized...The Ramapo Valley is anarrow pass
between the Hudson Highlands and the Southfield Mountains, the river being a
succession of rapids and falls, widening into miniature lakes in many places. The

* Frank Bertangue Green, MD, The History of Rockland County. (New York: A.S. Barnes, 1886) pp 219-220.
® J. H. French, Gazetteer of the State of New York. (Syracuse, NY: R. P. Smith, 1860.)
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entire region iswild and picturesgque, and although within an hour and a half of
New-Y ork, combines all the attractions that have made the fame and fortune of
localities that require long hours of tiresome railroad and stage travel to
reach...Board at... the smaller boarding-houses and farm-houses the rate runs from
$5 to $10 aweek.’

With the increasing ease of access from the New Y ork metropolitan area, the nascent country
retreat or estate era of the Gilded Age blossomed in the region, including the area that would
become the Village of Montebello. A number of fine examples of country estates were built in
this period and many of the old farmhouses were transformed into rustic retreats. The railway
connection and continued roadway expansion also alowed for commercial development in
neighboring Suffern and with it construction of residences to house the middle class merchant
class. Thisresulted in the more urban built environment in the southwest corner of Montebello
(Orchard Street)—that may have been related to the recreational amenity provided by Lake
Antrim. Thetechnologica advance of the automobile, which became increasingly availablein
the first decades of the 20™ century, also served to disperse residential development in the town,
but still primarily along established roadways.

The Depression in the 1930s slowed development considerably, and the country estates and
farmsteads were sold for pennies on the dollar. Indicating thisis the headline that appeared in
the local pressin 1930:

Magnificent Suffern Estates Assessed Way Below True Value’

Only in the 1940s, particularly after World War 11, would devel opment pick up again. The
progressive era—areaction to theills of the industrialized city—that eschewed political
patronage in favor of rational standards and quantitative bases for avariety of government
service, led to ahost of modern approaches to development. The construction of the Suffern
High School in Montebello reflected this mindset. Planners schooled in this approach would rely
upon per-capita models for both local and regional park development and promoted specific
projects based on their health benefits. Development of the Rockland County Park Commission
in the 1960s and its subsequent development of parks and recreational facilitiesin the
Montebello area grew out of this philosophy.

By the mid-20™ century, transportation improvements in the form of the Tappan-Zee Bridge and
Interstate 287 spurred a dramatic increase in development in the Town of Ramapo that continues
to thisday. Only periodic economic downturns have temporarily slowed this expansion. Efforts
by the Town in the late 1960s and 1970s to control and shape the explosive post-WW |1 growth
with new comprehensive planning and growth management techniques ultimately proved
ineffective. (Indeed, 77% of the buildingsin the Village were constructed 1960 or later.) Inan
effort to control its own destiny, the community that would comprise Montebello sought
incorporation as a Village, becoming one of six that doubled the number of villagesin the Town
to twelve by 2003.

“The villages were all formed because of aloss of confidence in the capacity of
the town government to adequately protect their neighborhoods against an influx

® The New York Times7-2-1883.
" Evening Rockland County Journal, 3-6-1930.
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of non-conformists who disdained the constraints of the town zoning ordinance,"
McAlevey says. "But no villages formed as aresult of the Ramapo master plan."®

This character-defining mid- to late-20™ century development in Montebello suggests that the
more recent construction deserves specia attention. The earliest of the post-WWII suburban
residential enclaves are now turning 50 years old and embody the history of that time. What's
more, the Modern architectural style was just taking hold in this same period, so there are several
notable examples of it that warrant preservation. With the coming of regional office complexes,
Montebello boasts several large-scale Modern buildings that may well be outstanding historic
architecture, if not now, in therelatively near future.

The maps on pages 8 and 9 illustrate the major residential subdivisions occurring in Montebello
from the early 20" century onward. Also, please see Appendix A for a Chronology of
Devel opment, which has more date-specific information about Montebello’ s historic context.
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DEVELOPMENT OF THE VILLAGE OF MONTEBELLO
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DEVELOPMENT OF THE VILLAGE OF MONTEBELLO

Village of Montebello

Rockland County, N.Y.

Prepared by the Rockland County Planning Department
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Survey Findings
A. Overview

The historic resources of the village of Montebello fall into three broad periods of sigg]nificance:
initial rural development; the country retreat era, spanning the late 19th and early 20" centuries;
and the mid- to late-20™ century suburban expansion. To some extent the periods overlap, and
each period has had various expressions represented by the current built environment. The
following discussion and analysis seeks to illustrate the various ways these periods are
exemplified.

As stated in Section 1-B, Methodol ogy, this survey observed all of the 1294 developed properties
in Montebello. The following table provides a breakdown of their estimated construction dates.

Estimated Construction Dates of Extant Developed
Propertiesin the Village of Montebello*

Before 1870 31
1870-1879 11
1880-1889 5
1890-1899 6
1900-1909 16
1910-1919 13
1920-1929 40
1930-1939 34
1940-1949 22
1950-1959 128
1960-1969 321
1970-1979 134
1980-1989 85
1990-1999 163
2000-2010 285
TOTAL 1294

* Count does not include utility facilities but does
include 2 cemeteries

B. Montebedllo’s Historic Resources

Native American

The earliest inhabitants of the area now within Montebello’ s corporate boundaries left few
know remains. The only oneincluded in this survey is the site known as * Indian Rock”
around which a 20™-century shopping mall has been built. Fortunately the site now seemsto
be widely recognized (the shopping mall taking its name from it) and preserved for the
foreseeable future. Other undisturbed areas may contain other remnants of Native American
habitation, though these could not be identified.
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Early Farm Buildings

Remnants of Montebello’ s rural past are effectively obscured by the overwhelming amount of
20" century development. Still, judging from historic maps of the area, a surprising number are
extant, albeit often in altered and expanded forms and/or adapted to new uses. These buildings,
which consist of farmhouses, barns, and the occasional outbuilding, are located along the historic
routes that traverse the village—Haverstraw Road, Montebello Road, Viola Road, Mile Road
and Spook Rock Road. Their wide but relatively regular spacing along these routesis a clue to
the size of the farm tracts that dominated the land use of the late 18" century and most of the 19"
century. Primarily farmhouses, they fall into two categories: thosethat are still small in size and
recognizable as 19th century forms and those which were expanded and remodeled as country
retreats, primarily for New Y orkers. The second type is discussed in the section, Country
Retreats.

Thetypica form of early farmhousesis rectangular having a gable roof and 3- or 5-bay front
facade, with regularly spaced fenestration. They are either 12 or 2-storiesin height. These
generally date to the late 18" century and early decades of the 19" century. Just before the Civil
War, aPicturesgue taste took hold and architectural styles such as Gothic Revival, Italianate, and
Romanesque found expression in the houses being constructed, with the addition of front gable
features, brackets, verandas, and more asymmetrical massing. This remained the predominant
taste through to the end of the 1800s. Virtually al of the extant early housesin Montebello have
been altered over time, most of them in ways that reflect later, but still historic, design periods.
A few havelost their architectural significance due to remodelings that hide the original form.

The Henry Wanamaker House, built c. 1778 and located at 51 Montebello Road, is one of the
earliest extant farmhouses in Montebello. Stone houses are a distinctive regional type and,
although the Wanamaker House has been significantly modified, its stone construction remains
visible. Another aspect of this house that comports with its early date is the recessed right side
ell, which was probably the original kitchen wing. The house now has a mansard roof,
characteristic of the Second Empire style of architecture that became widely popular in the
1870s, denoting when the house was remodeled. Its barn, though likely of alater date than the
house, remains a testament to the original farming function of the property.

an House, ¢.1778, at 51 Montebello Ro rn located by to the southeast.

Nearby, at 37 Montebello Road, the J. Wanamaker farmstead was established, ¢. 1820 (not
shown). Although it has been significantly expanded it retains and the original lot subdivided, it
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retainsits architectural integrity. In addition, its association with the Wanamaker family makes
it historically significant.

Portions of the Coe farmhouse at 500 Haverstraw Road may date to as early as 1817, as
evidenced by the 3-bay front facade and left side ell (probably the original kitchen expanded
with asecond floor addition). Like the Wanamaker House (above) it was remodeled c. 1870, but
in the Gothic Revival style. This styleis expressed with the two front gable broken-eave
dormers and afull front porch having chamfered posts, incised facia, and saw-toothed frieze.
There are several rear extensions, one of which is a building moved from a property to the south
of this near the intersection of ViolaRoad.” A couple of extensions are smaller lean-tos. The
barns at the rear of the property have also been expanded and remodeled in typical fashion. A
wellhouse in the front yard speaks to an earlier erawithout interior plumbing.

sy

er depicted as L.D. Coe on

The house at 500 Haverstraw Rd. appears to‘b'e'th'e" John ahd Hannah Cbe House, lat
the 1854 O’ Connor Map.*°

The original 3-bay, 2-story form of the Johnson farmhouse at 84-86 Viola Road, built c. 1778,
can still be discerned despite the addition of ataller 2-story wing on the west end, a 1-bay
extension off the east side with faceted bay window, and the addition of a broken-eave shed-
roofed front dormer.™ The front porch was also alater addition, further modified in the early
20™-century with rustic cobblestone piers. This farmhouse typifies the ongoing alterations made
to the oldest buildings in the attempt to meet changing functional requirements, changing
lifestyles, and, in this case, an increase in the number of inhabitants. This property was
designated Montebello Landmark on July 19, 2006.

° Thelate Mr. Herb Bunting reported to LFA that his father told him the rear building, which is connected to the
main house through a 1-story hyphen, was moved “up from the corner.” He also stated that the second floor
joistsin this building were 3x10s very closely spaced to support heavy machinery. Many pencils were found in
the walls and so there is speculation about this having been a pencil factory at onetime. The 1854 map of the
areaindicates there was a blacksmith shop near and south of this location, which was still extant when the 1975
Bicentennial/ Clair Tholl map was made. This suggests the possibility this rear addition was once a part of that
complex. Further research is needed to confirm either possibility.

19 The 1860 Federal Census lists John and Hannah Coe, ages 59 and 55, respectively, with son Lawrence, age 24,
whose occupation is farmer like his father.

' The 1854 O’ Connor Map labels the house as “W. Johnson.”
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The Johnson thou, c. 1778, 84 ViolaRd.

Another Johnson farm is located at 236 Spook Rock Road—the S. R. Johnson House. Itisa
simple wood frame, 5-bay gable-roofed building, oriented with the front facade to the south for
solar access, as were many early rural housesin theregion. Reclad in darkly stained wood
shingles and having a shed dormer addition, it belies the c. 1778 date ascribed to it.
Nevertheless, its association with the Johnson family and the early rural development patterns of
Montebello makes it asignificant, if somewhat endangered, historic property.*™

,.‘w

The S. R. Johnson Hou, buI . 1778, 236 Spook Rock Road
The R. Johnson House at 96 Viola Road may have been constructed as early as 1820. Despite
being expanded, its original 2-story, 5-bay gable roof form isclearly visible. Thisfarmhouse

was one of those adapted as a country retreat in the late 19" or very early 20" century, without

extensive changes. The property also contains several outbuildings, of varying ages. No barnis
extant, however.

12 The property appears to be vacant and as such may be endangered by lack of maintenance as well as by being a
tempting target for vandals.
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The R. Johnson Housg, c. 1820, at 96
Viola Road; afieldstone
outbuilding—possibly adairy cooler
(aboveright). Anice houseisalso
located on the property (illustrated on

page 19).

An early Johnson house, located at 26 Mile Road, which is depicted on the 1876 Davis Map and
labeled “ Adam Johnson,” has been significantly altered such that its original form is obscured by
alarge 2-story extension off the front. (Not pictured.)

The Y oung homestead |ocated at 62 North Airmont Road was built ¢.1810 and retainsits ssmple
vernacular 2-story form with a 5-bay front facade and gable roof. Its proximity to the road and
stone wall along the right-of-way indicates itsrural origins. Labeled as*“Jas. Young” on the
1854 O’ Connor Map, by 1876 it was the property of “Mrs. Young.” A number of Youngs are
enumerated in the 1850 census as living in Ramapo—among them, James, age 66, afarmer,
married to Maria Y oung, age 68.2* The 1854 map also |abels a house off Mile Road, along with
agrist mill, as“J. Young,” neither of which is extant. Aswith the Johnson farmsteads, the

Y oung properties represent a significant part of the community’s rural past and contribute to the
historic character of Montebello.

The James Y oung House, built c. 1810, at 62 North Airmont Road.

13 1850 Federal Census.
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Although expanded and remodeled, the J. Y oung House at 199 Spook Rock Road still
incorporatesits early 19" century section (the c. 1820 recessed west wing was raised to 2 stories
at alater date). The house was expanded c. 1840 with a 2-story, 3-bay addition, which now
occupies the center portion of the structure. This section can be roughly dated dueto its Greek

Reviva stylewithitswide frieze. The front porch and 1-story right (east) side ell were later
modifications, as are the rear extensions.

J oung use, buIt c. 1820 - 1, at 199 Spook Rock Road.

Another Young farmhouse, the“J. T. Young House,” islocated at 46 Mile Road. Built c. 1850,
it has a 2-story, front gable form with a 3-bay front facade that hints at the Gothic Revival style

becoming popular at thistime. One-story €ells extend from the main house, but do not obscure its
original form.

s e el i fmr Thal
J. T. Young farmhouse at 46 Mile Road, built c. 1850.
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The T. Hillard farmhouse at 565 Haverstraw Road is an intact example of the traditional 1%%-
story form still prevalent when it was built c. 1860.%* It still retains characteristic horizontal
frieze windows and its simple 3-bay gable roof form. Barns and outbuildings on the property
continue to shelter livestock, although its rural setting has been altered by the presence of the
large Viola School building to its east.

The T. Hillard House, bU|t c. 1860, at 565 averratw Road; more recent barn at rght.

The George S. and Mary E. Conklin House, built c. 1870, at 603 Haverstraw Road, although
greatly expanded and altered, can still be read as an early farmhouse, with the origina gabled
roof section defined by the large brick chimney on the original |eft facade. (The two-bay section
to the left of the chimney, aong with the repeated gable section at the rear are much later
additions.) George was a house carpenter and so probably built this house himself.*> The
Conklins lived here with their daughter Ameliathrough at least 1887. W.F. Gurnee bought it by
1911; alarge Gurnee clan, most of whom were farmers, resided in Ramapo by 1880.%°

. ¢.1870, 603 Haverstraw Rd.

 Depicted on the 1876 Davis Map.

15 1870 Federal Census lists George S. Conklin’s occupation as “works in Carpenter’s Shop;” in the 1880 Federal
Census his occupation is “ carpenter (house).”

161800 Federal Census.
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Other early farmhouses include the following:

The James J. Wanamaker House, ¢.1840, at 104
Montebello Rd.*’

S. Johnson Housg, c. 1850, at 126 Viola Rd. (now
listed as#4 Sycamore Lane)

rs Wamer Hse, C. , 3 Mil R. '

7 The Rockland Co. Journal, 10-9-1886: “ Jas. J. Wanamaker is putting a new shaft in the old mill near his place.
Mr. Wanamaker put a similar wooden shaft in this mill over forty years ago. Few water wheels have wooden
shafts nowadays.”
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auvelt House, c. 1870, 144 Spook Rock Rd.

The S, BI

The T. W. Howell House, c¢. 1870, 32 Montebello Rd.

The Benson Housg, c. 1890, 29 Mile Rd.
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Barnsrangein size from small to substantial and cover a hundred-year time span from the early
19" to the early 20" century. Like the early farmhouses, they are rectangular in form with
simple gable roofs. Only later, at the end of the 19" century, did more advanced farming
methods provide a catalyst for the gambrel roofed barn. Although orchards were prevalent
throughout Montebello at one time and references to cider mills were found in early newspapers
and historic maps, no building of this type could be identified in this survey. Two ice houses
however, are extant.

Ice house at 24 Viola Road (converted to first to Ice house at the R. Johnson House at 96 Viola

i

boathouse, later to studio), the Goldberg Estate. Road.

>
LN
i

/

20 Viola 0; te associated historic housewas ~ Coe arstead barn at 519 Haverstraw Road.
demolished in 2008.
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19" Century Rural Development

Small industrial, commercial, and non-agricultural structures were scarce in the Montebello
section of Ramapo, as it was primarily settled by farmers. These buildings typically were
utilitarian and generally devoid of architectural embellishment. The best extant example of this
period and type is the remnant of the Wanamaker Saw and Grist mill, which dates to ¢.1840 (and
replaced an earlier mill established by John Suffern). The picture of the mill, below, showsiit
prior to its conversion to a dwelling.

J. Wanamaker’'s saw and gist miII today in its current incarnation as asingle fami ly dwelling. On the right,
108 Montebello Road, constructed c. 1900 is another building originally associated with the mill and which
has also adapted for residential use (it is in the background of the historic photograph at top).

'8 The Rockland Co. Journal, 10-9-1886: “Jas. J. Wanamaker is putting a new shaft in the old mill near his place.
Mr. Wanamaker put a similar wooden shaft in this mill over forty years ago. Few water wheels have wooden
shafts nowadays.”
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Antiquarian Country Retreats

Country Retreat refers to a dwelling being a second and/or seasonal homes for affluent families
with permanent residencesin New York City. Many of these originated as farmsteads. At the
turn of the 20™ century local farms struggled economically and long-established farmsteads
became available at quite low prices—to those who wished to escape the heat and ills of the city.
A 1901 newspaper article headlined Revolutionary Relics — Those in Rockland County, N.Y .,
Rapidly Disappearing noted the changes taking place at this time:

...Millionaires have bought large tracts of land, and have either demolished or
greatly altered buildings dear to the residents for their historical associations...™

Some of these newcomers had antiquarian interests spurred by the nation’s recent centennial and
sought older properties they could both appreciate and remodel. These country retreats also
proved to be solid financial investments for buyers with the means to support more than one
abode, at least until the Depression.

The Conklin-Sherwood House at 1 Copeland Drive is a good example of a prosperous farmhouse
from the rural period that would end up becoming a country retreat. The Conklin Family
genealogy states that the land was bought from the Indiansin 1750.%° Not far from here, across
Haverstraw Road, isasmall graveyard with a number of headstones attesting to the Conklin’s
early settlement of thisarea. Historian Clair Tholl dated portions of the house to ¢.1778.?* (The
current addressis 1 Copeland Drive.)

AR, T -
The Conklin-Sherwood House, built ¢.1778, at 1 Copeland Drive.
The house remained in the family through at least 1876 and was owned for atime by J. D.

Wanamaker.?? George P. Day, aNew Y ork banker who started Y ale University Press and
became the treasurer for Y ale University was the next owner together with hiswife

% New-York Tribune Illustrated Supplement 1901, from the files of the Village Historian.

% Conklin genealogy from the files of the Village Historian.

2 |_andmarks of Rockland County with Old Roads and Early Buildings. Historical Society of Rockland County,
1975.

22 3, Sherwood" on 1854 O'Connor & 1876 Davis maps; “J.D. Wannamaker” on 1887 Goldthwaite Map.
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Wilhelmine.?® 1n 1916 aNew Y ork City ophthalmologist, Roya S. Copeland, bought the farm,
which he called "Dexter Manor" after the town in Michigan where he was born. Copeland’s
successful career included the position of Dean of New Y ork Flower Hospital Medical College,
appointment as the New Y ork City Commissioner of Public Health and election to the
presidency of the New Y ork Board of Health in 1918 and election to the U.S. Senate in 1922, re-
elected in 1928 & 1934. The houses at numbers 2 and 4 Copeland Drive, located to the south
and across Copeland Drive from the farmhouse, were associated with the Sherwood farmstead.

Left: 2 Copeland ive, €.1880, (now known as Dr. Birkett's House); Right: 4 Copeland Drive, ¢.1880.

The house at 452 Haverstraw Road may have been atenant house for afarm laborer located
north of the main house on the Dexter Manor property (discussed above).?* 1t may also be the
farmstead established c. 1830 by Reverend Benjamin Sherwood.? It has been depicted on
historic maps as one of two houses west of Haverstraw Road under the same ownership at
different times, the other being the Conklin-Sherwood House at 1 Copeland Drive.®® The
farmhouse has an exposed stone basement on the front facade and “ outshot” extending across its
rear, typical for this period.?” It exhibits the Greek Revival architectural style which
predominated from 1830 through1860; e.g. the 3-bay front facade, gable roof, and horizontal
frieze windows. However, later alterations are evident (lack of afront door in the earliest 3-bay
section, and large side extensions). Still, these later additions do not unduly compromise the
original dwelling. A small barn in the lower portion of the property, now used as agarage, is
undoubtedly alater erection.

The house was purchased by David Hall McConnell Jr. in the early 20" century. His father
founded the California Perfume Co. in New York City in 1886. When he died in 1937
McConnell Jr. became president of the company and during his tenure the company was
renamed Avon Products, Inc. and its headquarters established 30 Rockefeller Plaza®® By 1936

% The New York Times6-22-1910 and 10-25-1959 (obituary).

2 A 1913 Survey of the Lands of George P. and Wilhelmine O. Day by Frederick Washburn depicts the main house
plus a*“cottage” northeast of the house, and an outbuilding (probably a barn) to the rear and west of the house.

% Frank Bertangue Green, MD, History of Rockland County,.

% "3 Sherwood" on 1854 O'Connor & 1876 Davis maps; “J.D. Wannamaker” on 1887 Goldthwaite Map.

21 «|_andmarks of Rockland County with Old Roads and Early Buildings’ Rockland County Historical Society,
1975 [Claire Tholl Map].

% <www.avoncompany.com/about/history.html>
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the McConnells had relocated to the Village of Suffern, where hisfirst wife died tragically, and
by 1940 McConnell and his second wife had relocated to Southampton, Long Island.?

o,

ad; birdseye view at left.

The Conklin-Sherwood House, built c. 1778, at 452 Haverstraw Ro.

“Joylands” is what the Second Empire-style house at 6 Viola Road came to be called when the
Joy family purchased it in the late 19" century. Initially the house was associated with a sawmill
run by the Coe family in the 1870s. At some point it was moved and expanded to its current
appearance. The mansard roof is punctuated with steeply pitched gable dormers with diamond-
paned casement windows that reveal a Queen Anne taste in the later remodelings, as does the
second story porch projecting from the left side ell.

J. J. Coe Housg, c. 1860, at 6 Viola Road.

The Montebello Historic Landmark, “Fant Farm” (more properly referred to as the J. Conklin
Farm), islocated at 253-257 Spook Rock Road. The property datesto ¢.1850. The property

# New York Times, 12-6-1930(article reporting that Mr. & Mrs. David H. McConnell played golf with John D.
Rockefeller); 12-6-1936 (article reporting the death of Mrs. McConnell: “Woman Found Dead in Suffern Garage —
Wife of D. H. McConnéll Jr., Perfume Manufacturer, Held Victim of Accident — Investigation is Started — Servant
and Husband Failed to Discover Body Wedged Between Door and Auto.”
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changed hands a number of times within the course of itsfirst 50 years and, as aresult, the house
has been expanded with additions.*® The double front wall dormers revealsits origina Gothic
Reviva style, while the Classical Revival style of the front porch is alater amendment.

| he ant ar, or . Conklln House, built c. 1850, at 257 Spook Rock Road.

Barns at 257 Spook Rock Road

As an dternative to selling their homesteads, farmers ran summer boarding houses, catering to
New York City residentsin particular. This became increasingly common throughout the
Hudson Valley and Catskill Mountains as railroads made these areas accessible. An

advertisement appearing in aNew Y ork area newspaper in 1900 attests to the practice in
Ramapo:

SUMMER RESORTS; AT SUFFERN, NEAR RAMAPO MOUNTAINS
nicely furnished house, with best sanitary plumbing; can accommodate few
select people who appreciate first class table and accommodations house

% |_abeled as"J.Conklin" on 1854 O'Connor Map; "J. Hunter" on 1859 map; "G. H. Soule" on 1876 Davis Map;
“Mrs. Hunter” on 1887 Goldthwaite Map; "Abbott" on 1911 Washburn Map.
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situated on high, large, shady lawn, overlooking beautiful, healthy country;
raise own vegetables, fruit, poultry, milk, butter and eggs carriage will meet
trains free daily. AUGUSTUS COE, SUFFERN, N.Y.*

The advertisement could have referred to either of two early farmhouses that straddle Haverstraw
Road—one at number 519 (east side) and the other at number 556 (west side). Both houses date
to c. 1850 and exhibit the upper end of the farmhouses remaining in Montebello and both show
the physical characteristics of summer boardinghouses—large wings and extensive verandas.
The John J. and Hannah Coe House (Augustus Co€' s parents) at 519 Haverstraw Road
exemplifies how prosperous farmers upgraded their houses in the mid- to late-19™ century. Its
Italianate style was just becoming popular at this time—the bracketed eaves being the main
expression on this dwelling. However, awide frieze on the main 3-bay gabled building hints that
it may have started out with asimpler Greek Revival style, with the brackets and veranda added
adecade or two later when the east side ell was added or expanded.

John J. and Hannah Co se ‘ av Road, iIt . 1850.

The house at 556 Haverstraw Road was originally owned by an . or J. Depew.* By 1876 it was
owned by J. H. Jordan and at some point before 1911 A. W. Coe bought the place.** The Depew
House appears to have been remodeled from its original appearance—perhaps with the addition
of the square tower and expanded wrap-around porch, later in the 19" century—suggesting that it
too became a summer boarding house.

3 Brooklyn Daily Eagle, 6-24-1900.

% The label on the 1854 O’ Connor Map is unclear asto the first initial.

% The 1876 Davis Map labels the property J.H. Jordan, while the 1911 Washburn Map labels it A.W. Coe which
may or may not be Augustus Coe.
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“Fieldstone Farm” at 62 Montebello Road was built c. 1898, designed by C.
Ritterbush

The property at 62 Montebello Road had greenhouses run by D. Groesbeck in 1876 prior to it
being purchased and redeveloped by Thomas F. Ryan in 1898 as his “winter home.”3* Although
the property was being transformed into a country retreat, its name, "Fieldstone Farm," retained a
sense of itsrural past and was a description of the material used in its construction. Classical
details like the Doric columns, pedimented dormers were melded with a simple gambrel roof
form that, together with a porte-cochere, reflect the eclectic architectural tastes of the time.

% 1876 Davis Map; Real Estate Record Guide: “Aug. 27, 1898 At Suffern, NY 2 Y4-story 30 X 40 stone and frame
dwelling for Thomas F. Ryan, Metropolitan Traction Co.”; From Village Historian, Craig Long: “Inside the
house, on the back of the stairs leading to the basement are the instructions from a NY C plumber (Quick) how to
turn the water off & on for the ‘winter home of Thos. F. Ryan’.” J. J. Ryan” on 1911 Washburn Map.
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The C. Fredericks House, c. 1850, at 63 Mile Rd.

The C. Fredericks homestead at 63 Mile Road, built c. 1850, would come under the ownership of
James J. Wanamaker by1876, whose family owned substantial tracts along Montebello and
Haverstraw roads. By 1910 it had become the home of Anton and Ella Schweickart. Anton was
born and had lived in New Y ork City, and by the time he moved to this house, he was a designer
for the Gorham Silver Co. He aso became a stained glass artist renowned for his church
windows.® The Schweickarts' son, Harry, inherited the property and lived here until his
untimely death at age 53 in 1961.% The property appears to have been divided up at this point
and James and Hope Daly purchased that portion of the property with the current house.*” James
Daly W%g astar of stage, film and TV and his daughter, actress Tyne Daly, lived here for atime
aswell.

Other country retreats that remain as testaments to the early development of Montebello when it
was still an unincorporated section of the Town of Ramapo, include the following:

TheE. J. Stuart House, ¢.1850, 314 Haverstraw Rd.; The C. Zavistowki House, ¢.1870, 10 Colline Dr.; became
bought by the prominent NY C lawyer William the home of Dr. Frank and Elaine Shirley Hollister by
Beaumont Putney in the early 20" century. (Thehouse ~ 1911.

is currently under renovation.)

% The Journal News, 11-16-1953; 1910; 1870, 1910, & 1920 Federal Census.

% The Journal News, 7-6-1961.

3" Rockland County Clerk of Court Deeds; Bk. 593 Pg. 251 (12-17-1954); Bk. 595 Pg. 378 (1-31-1955); Bk 595 Pg.
1955; Bk. 596 Pg. 441 (2-17-1955); Bk. 600 Pg. 321 (4-20-1955); Bk. 601 Pg. 257 (5-4-1955); Bk. 606 Pg. 423
(7-25-1955)
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T. Cookfaice, c. 1870, 106 ViolaRd.; home of Henry A, J. J. Quackenbush House, c. 1870, 40 Mile Rd.; home of
Paul by 1911. Allan A. Ryan by 1911.
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Country Retreats of the Gilded Age

The most extravagant and famous of the mansions or “country retreats’ of the Gilded Ageisthe
Thomas Fortune Ryan Mansion, “Montebello,” after which the Villageis named. Built in 1901,
it was situated on a promontory with spectacular views of the Ramapo Mountains and Mahwah
River Valey. Thetract at one time contained 822 acres, at least 702 of which werein hiswife's
name—the former Ida M. Barry, whom Ryan married in 1873. Thomas Ryan wasaVirginia
native, orphaned at the age of 5, who became a renowned financier worth an estimated $1.5
billion upon his death in November 1928.%° His fortune was largely due to his financial interest
in railroads, though he sat on the boards of numerous corporations.

Montebello was designed in arestrained Italian Renaissance style featuring Symmetrical massing
and fenestration, modillions, quoins, arched entrances and an expansive piazza stretching across
the front facade. The house and property were more associated with Mrs. Ryan than Mr. Ryan—
this property was in her name.*® After she died in October of 1917, a series of 10 deeds from
1919 through 1921 divided the property into tracts ranging from 2.5 to 156 acres.** Most of
these tracts would provide the land for residential development half a century later.

gt

Ida Ryan mansion, “Montebello,” built 1901, a 75 Montebello Rd.

Mrs. Ryan was a devoted Catholic who donated millions of dollars as well asland to the Church
and its causes; so much so that she was decorated with the “Pro Ecclesia et Pontifice” or “Pope’s
Cross” on April 21, 1904.%? (Indeed the Church received alot of Hudson Valley land in this
period due to new incometax laws.) Another mansion constructed on her property, at 38
Montebello Road, was built for her son, John Barry Ryan, c. 1905 and called "Barry Moore.” It
was designed by the New Y ork architect Thomas L. Nash.*® By 1911 it had a new owner:

¥ The New York Times11-24-1928.

“* The New Y ork Timesg-18-1905.

“L The New York Times10-30-1917 (Headline: “THOS. FORTUNE RYAN WEDS MRS. CUY LER — Recently
Widowed Financier Marries the Widow of Cornelius C. Cuyler - SURPRISE TO THE RELATIVES.” Rockland
County Clerk of Court, “Maps of the Ida M. Ryan Estate” on file, numbers; 1427, 1432, 1435, 1442, 1444, 1453,
1461, 1471, 1488, 1498.

2 The New Y ork Times4-22-1904.

“3 Henry F. Withey, AIA and Elsie Rathburn Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American Architects
(Deceased) (1956; Los Angeles. Hennessey & Ingalls, Inc., reprinted 1970) p.437. “A native of New Y ork, the
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George W. Morgan.** Morgan died in 1931 and by 1941 his widow, Helen E. Demuth Morgan
sold nearly half of the original property to the Ramapo School District.*® She sold the remainder,
which contained the mansion, by 1946 to the American Brake Shoe Co., which used it for the
Otis Cutler Club. In 1960 it became a convent for Sisters of Our Lady of Christian Doctrine and

was called "Marydell." That is undoubtedly when the large 4-story wing was added off the
building’sright side.

Aerial view of “Barry Moore.” A large 4-story extension was constructed (to the | eft in the above

photograph) after it was sold to the Institute of Christian Doctrine in 1960, renamed “Marydell,” and used as
aconvent. Itisno longer actively used.

young man studied architecture at Columbia University, graduating in 1882. Shortly after he secured a
position as draftsman in the office of J. August Lienau, and during the ‘ nineties was taken into partnership.
Appointed architect of Trinity Parish, the firm designed the Doctor Morgan Dix Memorial Chapel at the
Church and various other buildings. Following Mr. Lienau’s death in 1906 Mr. Nash acquired areputation in
restoring old houses, one of the most noted being the Grebe house at Woodbury, Conn.

4 «G.W. Morgan” on 1911 Washburn Map.

4 Rockland County Deed, Liber 392, Page 469.
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Another house sited on the extensive land holdings of the Ryan family islocated at 103
Montebello Road.*® It is possible that the house contains the c. 1850 A. P. Frederick House, or
remnants of it.*" However it predominantly reflects the architectural aesthetic of the early 20"
century with its cross-hipped roof, exposed stone chimney on the | eft facade, and paired
windows to the right of the entrance. (Only afew remaining 2-over-2 windows suggest a 19"
century construction date). It islikely that the Ryan family made a number of alterations soon
after acquiring the property, c. 1905, such as adding the large stone chimney on the left facade.
After Ida Ryan's death and subsequent division of her estate, this 10.29-acre parcel was sold to
Charles A. Pacein late 1920.* He was an Ohio native and lawyer who later worked for the
school system as an accountant.*® Pace appears to have bought the property as an investment—
he and his family appear never to have lived in the house—since he quickly sold the property to
the Blind Players Club, Inc. on September 19, 1921.%° The style of the 2-story house is classified
as Colonia Reviva due to having a 5-bay front facade (perhaps from the original farmhouse)
with its center entrance distinguished by a pedimented header (an early 20™ century
modification). The houseis clad with wood shingles stained dark brown, which probably date to
the 1920s, a period when “ extensive improvements were made to the property” that probably
included the projecting right side ell to accommodate additional lodgers.”* The multi-paned
casement windows in the ell, along with the shingle siding are typical features of the Craftsman
style that became popular in this period.

*

o el b e it R j Y ;
The house at 103 Montebello Rd. may incorporate a ¢.1850 farmhouse. It was
associated with the Blind Players Club from the 1920s through the 1950s.

The Blind Players Club was organized in 1914 by a group of blind women in Brooklyn who put
on dramatic performancesin order to raise funds for service projects on behalf of blind people.

% The house isillustrated on the 1911 Washburn Map and occupies “Parcel D” of asurvey of the IldaM. Ryan
Estate, which was sold to Charles A. Pace on December 3, 1920 per Rockland County Deeds Liber 276, Pg 506.

47« A.P. Frederick” indicated in this general location on the 1854 O’ Connor and 1859 French Wood & Beers, and
1876 Davis maps. “J.P. Frederick” isindicated on 1887 Goldthwaite map.

“8 Rockland County Clerk of Court, “Maps of the IdaM. Ryan Estate,” number 1453.

9 The 1910 Federal Census locates Charles A. Pace as living at 30 Wayne Avenue in Suffern along with his wife
Elizabeth and 19-year-old son, Fred S.; the 1920 Federal Census has him boarding at a L afayette St. addressin
Suffern with Elizabeth and 6-year-old daughter Margery. In the 1910 census his occupation was listed as
“lawyer,” in 1920 as “accountant” for a school.

% Rockland County Deeds, Liber 281 Page 503, filed 12-23-1921.

! New York Times4-15-1927; Ramapo Valley Independent, 10-25-1951 (obituary for Miss Evalyn M. Griswold).
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The group initially used the property as a summer camp for blind youngsters and vacation spot
for blind women working in New Y ork City, but it eventually evolved into a year-round
residence.®® By 1956 the wood buildings that provided the camp facilities during the first 3
decades of the club’s occupancy became dilapidated and were replaced by the present 1-story
concrete block building at 101 Montebello Road. It isthe association of these properties with the
Blind Players Club that makes both of them historically significant.

The Henry von L. Meyer Farm located along Viola Road represents the largest and most lavish
of farm buildingsin Montebello. Von L. Meyer bought the old Quackenbush estate and
redeveloped it in 1907 as a gentleman’s model farm.>®* The gambrel-roofed barn he had buiilt is

notable—it represents the evolution of agricultural building technology to provide increased
storage space in the hayloft. (Virtually all the older barnsin the community have gable/front
gable roofs.) The barn, now adapted to residential use, still retains the cobblestone first floor that
gave thefarmitsname. The original farm tract was subdivided into residential lotsin the late
1990s (now fully developed) and the remaining farm buildings are contained on two of them:
barns at numbers 3 and 4 Cobblestone Farm Road.

Ak il i ik 2t H. i W I Sk B e 2 N K o
The original main barn at 4 Cobblestone Farm Rd. (left) has been adapted to a single family dwelling. The barn
at 3 Cobblestone Farm Road remains from the original use.

The Henry von L. Meyer Jr. House, built 1939, 60 Viola Rd.

2 New York Times6-13-1956 (letter to the editor by Dwight C. Smith, General Secretary, John Milton Society for
the Blind.
%3 Nyack Evening Star, 1-25-1907 & Nyack Evening Journal, 1-26-1907.
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The house at 60 Viola Road was built for his son, Henry von L. Meyer Jr. in 1939.>* The
Colonia Revival style was particularly popular at the time it was built and has several features
(gableroof, 5-bay front facade, window shutters) in common with the early farmhousesin the
area. However, the large scale and more elaborate detailing revedl its later date.

In 1909 Augustine Smith purchased a portion of the old Quackenbush estate from Henry von L.
Meyer, which still contained a ¢.1840 farmhouse that had been occupied by Mrs. Quackenbush
until at least 1876.° Immediately Smith hired architect William Adams, who was based in
Manhattan, to design him a residence on the site.*®

Aerial view of the A. J. Smith House, built 1909, at 4 Emerald Lane.

Adams “was a popular designer of handsome, commodious, year-round houses...admired for the
way his plans capitalized on their sites, for the straightforward arrangement and good proportion
of hisrooms...”*" He had a number of major residential commissions on Long Island, including
the Mrs. S. P. Sampson Residence in Lawrence (as a member of the Adams & Warren firm) in
1900; the J. Edward Meyer Residence in Great Neck, 1909; the Arthur N. Peck Residence in
Woodmere, 1910; the Edmund S. Twining Residence in Southampton, 1910; the Frederick I.
Richards Residence in Great Neck, 1910; the Howard S. Kniffin Residence in Cedarhurst, 1911;

> Ramapo Valley Independent, 6-9-1939: “Mr. and Mrs. Henry von. L. Meyer Jr. and son have taken up their

residence in their new home on the Viola Road.”

* 1876 F. W. Davis Map illustrates a house |labeled “Mrs. Quackenbush” in this vicinity.

*® From the files of the Village Historian, a copy of aletter dated Dec. 15, 1909 from William Adams, Architect, to
Frederick Washburn [Suffern surveyor]: “Dear Sir: | enclose the survey, which you made, of property just
purchased by Mr. Augustine Smith at Suffern. | would like to have a contour made of the portion of the property
indicated by the red shading giving contour lines showing differences every 5’ in dtitude. What | wantisa
section of the ground from the little farm house to the north east corner of the property and to a point covering
the existing road leading into the woods...Very truly yours, [signed] Wm. Adams”.

" Robert B. MacKay, Anthony K. Baker and Carol A. Traynor, Editors. Long Island Country Houses and Their
Architects 1860 — 1940. (W. W. Norton & Co., New York & London: 1997) pgs.36-38.
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the Dr. Aquin S. Kelly Residence in Hewlett, 1913; the Norton Perkins Residence in Lawrence
in 1914; and the James B. Taylor Residence in Syosset, 1928.% |n addition, he designed a high

schoofl)gin Lawrence on Long Island in 1913 and a Memorial Hall in Woodmere, completed in
1929.

)

oric view of the A. J. Smith House at 4 Emerald Lane, built 1909, designed by Architect William Adams.

%8 |bid. & New York Times4-27-1913 & 4-10-1929.
% New York Times2-2-1913 & 11-29-1929.
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Early 20" Century Houses

Asresidential development began to increase in the beginning years of the 20™ century due to
increased economic activity and a consequent growth of the merchant or middle class, the variety
of architectural stylesincreased aswell. However, the pattern of development remained
generally consistent with earlier times—residential lots were divided from large tracts with new
houses built primarily along established town roads. The resurgence of interest in Colonial-style
dwellings coming out of the nation’s Centennial continued into the new century (and this style's
popularity has never really ceased), but along side these were new approaches to residential
design. National distribution of plan books and kit houses popul arized new and novel plans.
The American Four Square, with its economical and commodious plan became afavorite,
particularly asit could be easily customized with the application of various styles. The Arts and
Crafts Movement also found expression in domestic architecture as the Craftsman style
combined modern approaches to house plans with old-world craftsmanship. Bungalows are a
type of dwelling that frequently embodied this aesthetic. Revivals of an English Cottage style,
such as Tudor Revival aso appealed to ataste for more asymmetrical facades that grew out of
the Queen Anne style.®®

An early exception to the pattern of building along the historic roads was “ Suffern Terrace,” the
first subdivision in the Montebello area of Ramapo. It was a plat of the lands of Jacob
Greenfield, which included the newly created Orchard Street. He had the subdivision plan drawn
up by 1911 and it was filed in 1937.°* However, only the part of his vision was fulfilled— Rose
Street, Williams Road and the lots along it were not developed. (Eventually that section made a
part of the 1985 Rustic Ridge subdivision.??) The subdivision’s proximity to Lake Antrim,
which was less than a block south of Orchard street at that time, suggests it may have been
conceived as aresort development. Most of the Orchard Street homes were built in the 1920s.
However, five houses along Orchard Street are depicted on the 1911 Washburn Map: 7 and 9
Orchard Street, 177 Haverstraw Road, 36 Memoria Drive, and 1 Lake Road.

Orchard Street houses, #s 26, to rig .

% gurprisingly, no Queen Anne-style houses were identified in Montebello in this survey, except for one
contemporary interpretation--185 Spook Rock Road.

¢ Rockland County Clerk of Court, Map # 1191, filed 9-7-1937.

62 Rockland County Clerk of Court, Map #s 5901 and 5902, filed 6-5-1986.
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5.6.Chavien

.  MAP 0P,
SUFFERN TERRACE
* PRoPERTY OF JACOB GREENFELD
SUFFERN,NEW YORK.
SerrEnBER, 191

| CEETEEET :
The 1911 Suffern Terrace Plat.

A

House at 9 drc Street, buiIt C. 90.

The house at 9 Orchard Street is depicted on the 1911 Washburn map and may well have been
the home of Jacob and Rosie Greenfield, as it clearly pre-dates the subdivision.®® Although
altered with infill construction under a shed roof at the right front corner, its Gothic Vernacular
formisstill visible. The steeply pitched front gable roof and 2-story recessed cross-gable el
were common features of late 19" century houses and places its date of construction around
1890.%* It was probably reclad with its present asbestos shingle siding at the time of the front
corner addition.

% Rockland County Deeds, Liber 264, Page 252.
® The house is not depicted on the 1887 Goldthwaite Map, which was a “driving map.” The houseis set back far
enough from Haverstraw Road that it may have simply been omitted.
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Suffern Terrace serves as a showplace for early 20™ century architectural trends, asits houses
display a variety of styles and forms popular in thistime period. The Morton and May Lexow
House at 36 Memorial Drive, is an early example of the American Four Square form, albeit with
substantial rear ells. However, the classic cubic shapeis evident along with the standard hipped
roof and dormer. A full front porch is aso typically found on American Four Squares. In this
case, the stone cladding on the first floor and stone porch pillars reflects the Craftsman Style.
The property is notable for its coordinating carriage house southwest of the house.

The Morton Lexow OUSe, c. 10, at 36 Memorial Dr., left, & coordinating rlage ouse, right.

Morton Lexow was alawyer and the son of Senator Clarence Lexow. Hejoined hisfather’s
legal firm, Harris and Lexow, with officesin New Y ork City and Nyack. Morton Lexow served
as District Attorney from 1919 to 1930 and became one of the most influential attorneysin the
development of Rockland County from before World War | until his death in 1976.%°

The Lester and Alice Mitchell House at 1 Lake Road was built . 1925.°" It is designed the
Tudor Revival style that became extremely popular during the first couple of decades of the 20"
century. The styletook itsinspiration from English cottages of the medieval period, using stucco
for cladding and incorporating multiple steeply pitched roofs with swooping lines.

The Lester & Alice Mitchell House at 1 Lake Road, built c. 1925,

8 “| exown” (sic) isthe label that appears on the 1911 Washburn Map; Rock County Deed: Liber 825: Page 1097.

6 <http://www.lexowberbit.com/Firm_History.html>
" The Mitchell family appearsin thislocation in the 1930 Federal Census, but not the 1920 Census.

Montebello Reconnaissance-L evel Historic Resource Survey page 37



Other early 20™ century houses on Orchard Street in the Suffern Terrace subdivision include:

The Dutch Colonial Revival-style house at 18 Orchard
St., with false gambrel roof; built ¢. 1920.

i
Vg

A classic Bungalow with Craftsman treatment at 8 A smaller, intact Bungalow-style dwelling a 15
Orchard St., built c. 1920. Orchard St., built c. 1925.

rrrrrr

An American 4-Square house a 27 Orchard St., c. A Cape Cod-style house at 24 Orchard St.; c. 1940,

1923, altered with the addition of a chimney.

Along Mile Road, at its northern end, are two early 20™ century houses that epitomize the revival
styles then becoming popular. The c. 1910 Ames House at 6 Mile Road has an eclectic
architectural expression with Craftsman, Bungalow, Shingle, and Queen Anne features. The
diamond-paned upper sashes of the dormer windows are typically used in both Queen Anne and
Craftsman styles, while the broad gable roof punctuated by hipped-roof dormers appears inspired
by Bungalow styling. Shingle cladding is a halmark of the Shingle Style. In addition, the 3-bay
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front facade is symmetrically organized around a shed-roofed entrance porch flanked by triple,
multi-paned casement windows, which repeats traditional 19™ century houses.

The Ames House at 6 Mile Road, built ¢. 1910.

A fine example of the Colonial Revival architectural styleis represented by the house at 90 Viola
Road, built in 1913 for George W. Morgan as a cottage on his property at 96 Viola Road (the R.
Johnson farmstead). The builder was the Viola firm of Rose and Scott.®® It has the very fine
detailing of the Colonial Revival tradition of thisera. In this case the main house has a 3-bay
facade with center entrance and there are symmetrical side ells on either side.

Grge W. an had this “eight room cottage” at 0|ola Rd. buntn
1913. Morgan owned the R. Johnson farmstead at 96 Viola Rd.

The house at 11 Mile Road is aclassic Tudor Revival with half-timbering, steeply pitched roofs
that extend below the top of the first story, double chimneys, and stucco and stone cladding. It
was constructed on a parcel created from the property of C. Blanchard after 1911.%° Tudor

% Nyack Evening Journal, 3-14-1913.
%9 1911 Washburn map labels this property “C. Blanchard.”
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Revival and English Cottage became the styles of choice for elite neighborhoods in Westchester
County in the 1920s, and so it is not surprising it shows up concurrently in Ramapo.

Those houses along historic roadways considered infill development are located between the
older farmhouses and country retreats, were generally built for middle class residents. Like
Orchard Street, these houses include an array of the styles popular in this era.

The J. Furman House 52 Haverr Rd., ¢.1910, is
an American 4-Square with Colonial Revival features.

i = '\?ﬁﬂ 3 T T
e X /

he house at 592 Haverstraw Rd., c. 1920, exhbitsthe
Craftsman style.

A Colonial Revival style house at 12 ViolaRd., ¢.1920.  Thehouse at 12 MileRd., c. 1920, is a Colonial

Revival.
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This eclectic house was built by the owner Hans Vendt in The Craftsman house a 164 Spook Rock Rd., was built
1920. Itislocated at 213 Spook Rock Rd. in 1926.

Two houses at 1 and 3 Emerald Lane are now contained within the 1987 Golden Estates
subdivision.” They evidently were a part of the constructed as a part of the Quackenbush -
Smith properties along 4 Emerald Lane. While 1 Emerald Lane exhibits a 1920s Craftsman
style—the cross-gable roof isflared at the eaves and repeated on an asymmetrical front facade—
it may have begun as abarn on the estate. Number 3 Emerald Lane, shares some of these
characteristics, but rather recalls an English Cottage, with its eyebrow dormer and stucco
cladding.

On the left isreputedly a barn that was converted to a Craftsman-style house c. 1920 at 1 Emerald Ln. On the rightis
ahouse at 3 Emerald Ln. in the English Cottage style.

Other notable early 20™ century houses lining the historic roads of Montebello include those that
don’'t necessarily fall into clear cut style categories, but reflect changing tastes that leaned toward
simplicity and classic forms. Two houses of thistype, both of which use stucco siding, are 205
Spook Rock Road and 340 Haverstraw Road. The first, which is dated c. 1925, resembles a
French farmhouse, while the Haverstraw Road dwelling, built c. 1930 with its tile roof, has
aspects of the Mediterranean or Spanish Revival style. California began to influence
architectural taste throughout the nation in this period, partly in response to the 1915 California-
Pacific Exposition in San Diego, which fostered stucco as a cladding material for much of the
exploding residential development the state experienced in the 1920s and 30s.

™ Rockland County Clerk, Map #4363 depicts several extant buildings within the area that would eventually be
developed as the Golden Estates subdivision.
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The house at 205 Spook Rock Rd., built ¢. 1925, left, & the house at 340 Haverstraw Rd, built c. 1930, right.

Probably the most notable residential development in the first half of the 1900s is represented by
the 1935 planned and unified development underwritten by Independence Foundation Inc. (Only
the second subdivision in the Montebello area after Suffern Terrace.) Unlike the prevailing
pattern of residential development along historic roads, this was a settlement of 40 acres
extending east from Haverstraw Road, with 17 homesteads on lots of 1 to 3 acres centered on
Bayard Lane. The cooperative venture was based on Ralph Borsodi’s School of Living which
advocated agrarian self-sufficiency. The historical significance of this movement is compelling
and, although there are some intrusions of contemporary houses within the original plat, the
development’ s architectural expression remains relatively visually cohesive. Modest stone and
stucco dwellings in the Craftsman style are tucked into alush riverside landscape that surrounds
the development.

1861 1861

af 2:15 P,
) e
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MAPOF
BAYARD LANE
SCHOOL OF LIVING
IKDEPENDENGE FOUNDATION ING

et

L, mvseosv s

The 1935 plat for Independence Foundation/Borsodi School of Living (revféed and filed in 1940).

The houses in the Borsodi School of Living comprise a cohesive neighborhood. They share their
scale, massing, materials (stone), and architectural features such as gabled dormers. The
architectura styleis an amalgamation of Craftsman with Colonial Revival.
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Bayard anz: built 1939
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367y Haverstraw Iioad, built 135.
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The abandoned house at 29 ayard Lane, built c.
1935.

42 Bayard Lane, built 1939.

Despite the model that the Borsodi School of Living development provided, roadside | ot
divisions continued to be the mainstay of residential development well into the 1940s and 50s.
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Usua IX these 20" century houses are set farther back from the road rights-of-ways than those of
the 19" century. However, the bends and curves of historic roads have been softened and the
roads realigned over time (Haverstraw in particular) with the result that some 19" century houses
have greater setbacks than originally.” Traditional and revival styles continued to be popular
well into the 1940s but their popularity was also due to the fact that initially they were the only
types that would be financed by the Federal Housing Administration, which ran the GI Home

Loan program in the 1940s. Thus the Cape Cod and Colonial Revival types predominate in this
period.

™ One example of thisis 452 Haverstraw Road, as confirmed by the 1854, 1876 and 1887 maps.
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The house at 8 Rose Hill was built c. 1940 on alarge ot extending west from Spook Rock Road
that was a part of Kakiat Farm until it was subdivided in 1904.” The large endwall chimneys
and shed roof dormers on the gable-roofed house reveal its inspiration as the authentic Dutch
Colonial architecture of the region, making it one of the most distinctive and notable houses of
this period. BMW of North America owned this property in the 1970s.

2 Rockland County Clerk of Court, Map #541, dated 1904; Deed: Liber 541, Page 9, Lots 11 and 12 on Map of
Kakiat Farm.
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Post-World War |1 Suburbanization

The Post World War Il development boom had three main causes—the pent-up demand for
housing caused by the war, the baby boom that officially began in 1946, and the federal
government’ s response “to an immediate need for five million new homes by underwriting of a
vast new construction program.””® As aresult, single family residential development in the
Town of Ramapo took off. Thisis evidenced by thefiling of seven new subdivisions within a
decade in the area that would become Montebello: Montebello Estates-Sections 1 & 2 (1949),
Brook Knolls (1950-53), Ward Ling Park (1955-57), Montebello Estates-Section 3 (1956),
Montebello Estates Section 4A (1958), and Deer Kill Estates (1958). In this period the ranch,
split-level, and raised ranch types being built in these subdivisions were at the leading edge of
post-war domestic architectural design.” Along side these were amodern version of the 2-story
Colonia Revival style. Although extremely popular throughout the following couple of decades,
split-level and ranch dwellings, are rarely built these days. Thus these neighborhoods represent
the historic districts of the futureif they are conserved.

After the Independent Foundation developed the 30-lot subdivision along Bayard Lane in the
1930s, the next major property to be developed was 300 acres of the former Thomas Fortune
Ryan estate. Gustave Mayer had bought the property and his sons Sidney and Henry began
developing portions of it in amanner that was remarkably sensitive to the existing topography
and vegetation, with curvilinear roads that followed the service roads crisscrossing the property.

Digging For All It's Worth, And It's Worth Plenty

This photograph of aroadway under development (probably looking northwest
along Mayer Drive) in Section 1 of Montebello Estates (called “ Ramapo Hills™)
appeared in the March 24, 1949, issue of the Ramapo Valley Independent

® K enneth T. Jackson. Crabgrass Frontier-The Suburbanization of the Unite d States. (New Y ork, NY: Oxford
University Press, 1985) pg. 233. The book goes on to state: In the decade after the war Congress regularly
approved billions of dollars of additional mortgage insurance for the Federal Housing Administration. Even more
important was the Servicemen’s Readjustment Act of 1944, which created a V eterans Administration mortgage
program similar to that of the FHA.”

™ The various Montebello Estates devel opments were advertised and popularly known as being in “Ramapo Hills.”
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Although a 1949 advertisement for the subdivision pictured a generic one-story house with tuck-
under ggrage, the house types built in this first section of “Ramapo Hills” were ranches and split-
levels.

Text for the advertisement at | eft
stated: “The first home in Montebello,
Rockland County’s most beautiful
residential development is now under
construction, and will be completed
this Fall. Located on a half-acre site
overlooking the Ramapo River, it will
cost only $11,990 with liberal FHA
financing. There are many other
attractive sites still available, so why
not drive out this weekend and see this
unusual residential community for
yourself. Entrance is on Montebello
Road afew hundred yards East of
Suffern High School. For complete
information, see MAYER, LEWIS &
They've started to build at Montebello! MAYER, 12 Wayne Avenue,”
“Suffern.

In the spring of 1950, The New Y ork Timesan an article about the development:

300-Acre Ryan Estate Near Suffern Sold To Buildersfor Housing Development

Plans for a housing development on Montebello, the 300-acre estate of the late Thomas
Fortune Ryan at Ramapo, near Suffern, N.Y ., were announced yesterday by Valley
Builders, Inc., headed by Robert G. Follette, who bought the Sidney Mayer of Suffern
Distributors, Inc.

Mr. Follette, who recently was associated in the development of Saddle-Wood-Hills,
in Hillsdale, N.J., said the buyers would improve the Ryan tract with homes containing
seven rooms and selling for about $20,000. Construction work on the new homes will
be started thisweek. Clarence Tabor of Ridgewood, N.J., isthe architect for the houses
which will contain two bathrooms and two-car garages.

Walter L. Drill of Hillsdale, N.J., is associated in the project with Mr. Follette, who
handled promotional work at Saddle-Wood-Hills, where $2,500,000 worth of homes
were sold in forty days.

The Ryan property is bounded by Route 202, Mill Road and Montebello Road and is
three milesfrom Route 17. It was acquired by the financier for a country place and still
contains the main residence on which the traction magnate is said to have lavished a
fortune. Three miles of roadway fifty feet wide were constructed by the owner a
generation ago.

The new owners of the property plan to call the development Ramapo Hills. Thefirst
model from plans by Mr. Tabor will be called “ The Ramapo.” ™

Interestingly, the devel opers had not yet secured utility services, which were sought from the
Village of Suffern, when the above articleran.”” A sewage treatment facility at 2A Lake Road

> Ramapo Valley Independent, 7-21-1949.

® The New Y ork Times4-23-1950.

" The Journal News, 4-25-1950, reported that: “The mayor told the board he had been asked by Henry Mayer, on
behalf of the new owners of the former Montebello estate, whether the village would undertake to extend the
village water mains to the proposed development outside the village limits. The mayor stated it had been
estimated the cost of laying the water mains from Orchard Street to the development, a distance of six tenths of a
mile was about $22,000. He said he had been told that some 50 houses would be erected on the development, the
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was built subsequently to service thisfirst section of the development (date unknown). By June
of 1950, it was announced that there were six buyers of planned homes in the devel opment, and
that six types of homes were being offered. Lower mortgage interest rates (4% as opposed to
4.5%) were also being offered to veterans of WW 11, on 20-, 25- and 30-year mortgages.”® With
the war over, and the post-war baby boom well under way, suburban development was rampant
throughout the region. An advertisement for “The Ramapo” model homein The New Y ork Times
was followed up three weeks later with an article that pictured the finished house with its floor
plan. A selling point for the subdivision was that it was “only 55 minutes from N.Y.C.”

EED

Hew York State

il 7 rooms ¢ 3 bedrooms o 2 baths ¢ all-]
Ramapo Hills, Suffern, N. Y. "
{ P purpose den e estate-size plots — more|
ONLY 55 MINUTES FROM N. Y. C. Than 2/3 acre = canter hall + separate|
dining room « large cellar « 2-car garage|
« cconomical natural gas for heating and|
cooking.
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The Ramapo, a2 model home in group built by Valley Builders, Inc., on the former estate of Thomag
Fortune Ryan in the Ramapo Hills section. The house contains seven rooms and is priced at $21,850
The architect for the development is Clarence Tabor.
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. FI!'!BIDUS 7 Rnom _R“ ﬂ(h Hﬂme . : Floor plan of the model in group in Ramapo Hills tract

Advertlsement in the 6-25-1950 edltlon of The New Y ork Timesthe follow-up article in the Timeson 7-
16-1950. Below is 32 Mayer Drive, “The Ramapo " asit appearstoday, only sllghtly modified.

lowest cost to be $19,000. Members of the board took no action on the proposal, Mr. Greene suggesting only that
the village first check the extent of its water production.”
" Rockland County Leader, 6-8-1950; New Y ork Times6-11-1950.
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In October of 1950 the names of eight buyers of “Ramapo Hills’ dwellings were announced, no
doubt to emphasize the high caliber of the residents, such as Dr. Morris Pines.”® It was August
of 1954, when the “Ramapo Hills’ development gained additional attention with the unveiling of
a 7-room split-level design.®® Billed as “luxury homes,” these early models contained 3
bedrooms, 22 baths, a 2-car tuck-under garage and wood-burning fireplace in a spacious living
room. It also featured a“scientific” kitchen with knotty pine cabinets.®*

] — - -
3 e wey A . V& Achievement
f*‘ l . 'y in Distinction

N Ramapo
| Hills

at Suffern, New York

|| 7 ROOM-2': BATHS
SPLIT-LEVELS

Plots 2/3 Acte & Larger
{ lage)

on Estate

ontebsllo Road and Mayer Drive, Suffern, Ramapo, offers this 3 bedroom, 2l4-bath Colonial multi-lev
at $31.000. Set on a plot in excess of |z acre, each home has a dining room with paneled dade, brick frent, oversize 2-car garag
g room with woed-burning fireplace, scientific kitchen wiith knotty-pine cabinets and exhaust fan, large, roofed porch,

T Ie::'{;"'{"‘"'- GE equipped laundry, select oak floors, 3-coat plaster and full insulation, George M. Beckmann Realty Co. is
clusive sa ent.

LLS luxury homes,

The rendering, top left, of a split-level
home in the “Colonial Style” appeared in
an August 1954 newspaper story. Top
right, a November 17, 1955
advertisement for “Ramapo Hills.” The
house, 1 East Place, asit appears today.
Below rendering is a detail from the
above advertisement.

" New York Times10-15-1950.
8 The Journal News, 8-5, 1954.
8 The Journal News, 8-5-1954.
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Another version of the split-level, with front-facing tuck-under garage, was on the market by
1955.%2 The house at 25 Victory Road is similar with amirror-image plan.

et

The split-level house at 2 y ctory Road, Secti 1 of Montebello Estat
(AKA “Ramapo Hills") asit appears today.

A model ranch home was open for public inspection in Section 1 of Montebello Estatesin
September 1955—this one designed by architect Peter H. Butler.2® The house, located at 29
Victory Road, remains largely intact, except for the replacement garage door. Whilethe formis
aranch, its details hearken back to more traditional designs, e.g. shuttered windows and a cupola
and dovecote on the garage.

Ramapo Hills Offers Ranch Homes in Suffern Section

R

“The house at 29 Victory Rd built 1955.

8 Rockland County Leader, 11-17-1955.

8 Rockland County Journal-News, 9-30-1955. New York Times7-10-1949, 5-2-1948, 8-27-1950, 11-19-1950, 2-4-
1951, 2-18-1951, 2-17-1952, 4-12-1953, 5-24-1953, 6-12-1955, 5-6-1956, 8-26-1956, 1-13-1957, 5-5-1975, 1-24-
1960, 2-7-1960, 11-13-1960, 5-28-1961: Architect Peter H. Butler, of West Englewood and later Teaneck, New
Jersey, was a prolific designer of suburban single family homesin large subdivisions from 1949 through1960,
primarily in northern New Jersey (New Milford, Fair Lawn, Secaucus, Haworth, Radburn, Teaneck, Englewood,
Woodcliff Lake, Washington Township, Harrington Park). These included ranch, split-level, Colonial-style,
Dutch Colonial types. By late 1960 he expanded to include 2-family dwellingsin East Patterson and in 1961 he
designed a 2-story, 24-unit apartment building in Oradell, New Jersey.
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In 1956 a New Y ork Timesarticle highlighted another model in “Ramapo Hills’ with the

heading: “Luxury Homes in Rockland County Offer Huge Living and Dining Room
Combination.”® Besides the 42-foot-long living-dining room combination, the house featured

dliding glass doors, a built-in counter-top range, wall oven and novel lighting fixture. This

particular ranch style, with its modestly arcaded front porch, is one that was copied in other,

later, Montebello devel opments.

TERRACE
6. 245’ ‘

BED ROOM

LIVING ROOM
18-6x13-6" 28 136"

gx13-6

KITCHEN — NOOK @
LERRTI Y -l T
) :

GARAGE
20-6'x21-6"

The house at 47 Mayer Drive, built 15.

8 New York Times11-18-1956.
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With the success of “Ramapo Hills,” (expanded with other sections platted in 1956, 1958, and
1962), other subdivisions quickly followed suit. Brook Knollswas created in 1950 on the east
side of Haverstraw Road and adjoining the north side of the Borsodi School of Living
subdivision.®® It was a self-contained neighborhood around a circular roadway, Orchard Circle,
with its sole access from Haverstraw Road. This, together with East Place in Section 2 of the
“Ramapo Hills” development, marks the beginning of a slew of cul-de-sac devel opments that
would radiate out from the historic roads of Montebello. Brook Knolls, with its 17 single family
lot offered a similar range of house designs as those found in “Ramapo Hills.”

Ward Ling Park was a three-phase development platted in 1955 that straddled Spook Rock Road
in the northeast section of today’s Village of Montebello. Ninelots lined the west side of Spook
Rock Road, while another 13 lots fronted on anew curvilinear loop road, Linda Drive.®® Two
years |ater, the East Section of Ward Ling Park was platted with 13 single family lots fronting
the east side of Spook Rock Road, and another 34 lots along new roadways—Caroll Drive,
Marget Ann Lane, and Bruce Court—two of which were cul-de-sacs.®’

Deer Kill Estates was a 1958 18-lot subdivision that incorporated two existing single family
homes on an essentially straight cul-de-sac off the east side of Haverstraw Road. The homes
there epitomize the typical post-WW |1 houses that would be built all across the nation in this
time period—the ranch, the Cape Cod, and a 2-story Colonial Revival. Note the tuck-under
garages on numbers 11 and 14, which became aregular feature of suburban housesin this era.

Cape Cod-style house at 14 Kevin Dr., built 1961.

Colonial-style house at 8 Kevin Drive, built 1963.

& Rockland County Clerk of Court, Map #2260, filed 11-2-1953.
8 Rockland County Clerk of Court, Map #2329, filed 1-12-1955.
8 Rockland County Clerk of Court, Map #2503, filed 5-21-1957.
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Residential development more than doubled in the 1960s from that of the 1950s (321 vs. 126).
The “Country Homes of Viola,” an 18-lot subdivision was recorded in 1961.2% By July 1962
models were being advertised in the New York Times.® Initialy a cul-de-sac lay-out along
Canterbury Lane, the roadway would be greatly expanded and connected to Oxford Drive and
Lety Lane when the Henry L. Schwartz estate was platted in 1995.%

AIRMONT AREA VIOLA
Grond Opening
1% ACRE ESTATES

2 STORY COLONIALS
4 BEDROOMS

L SHAPED RANCH
3 BEDROOMS

$29,990
10% DOWN
DIRECTIONS: Tanpsn Zee fo Thruway The house at 16 Canterbury Lane, c. 1962, is an example of the “2 story

Rte 59, 4 mil

,onitg )"]"%lkh:? k(W:S ) fgglmgmég ,(z:rg,ags Colomals advert|sed
Ti on dpoo 0ck

2 mies fo Vioa R, Lot 2000 vards e

Country Homes
of VIOLA

AT THE FOOT OF THE RAMAPOS
Another Qualliy Home Commumfy by
McCAFFERTY & H Bldrs

i
Sale Agenf — Mary Elizabeih Heck
Eme%od 7-9746 ELmwood 9-1801

July 22, 1961 Advertisement in the
New York Times

The house at 15 Canterbury Lane, built in963, isan example of the L-
shaped or rotated ranch houses constructed in the subdivision.

While other tracts in the Montebello area of Ramapo were rapidly being platted, spurred by the
opening of the Tappan Zee Bridge with its access to Westchester County and the New Y ork City
boroughs, Montebello Estates, i.e. “Ramapo Hills,” continued to expand and build on its
remaining lots. East Mayer Drive and Nottingham Drive were dedicated, providing connections
to Mile Road at their east ends. Robin Hood Road, was initially a cul-de-sac in the 4D Section
of the Development and a second cul-de-sac, Sterling Forest Lane, was created in Section 4E.
The house types continued to be fairly consistent with those in the early phases of “Ramapo
Hills.”

Dexter Manor was platted in early 1966 and was a subdivision of the former estate of Senator
Royal Copeland.™ It utilized acurvilinear street layout for Copeland Drive, West Gate Road,
and Babbling Brook Lane, which was now becoming the norm. Generally the style of the 33
dwellings houses constructed there followed the precedent of the early “Ramapo Hills’ houses,
with the mgjority being 2-story “Colonials.” However, four raised ranches were constructed in
1966, a style that would find wide acceptance throughout the country and continues today.

8 Rockland County Clerk of Court, Map #2898, filed 9-18-1961.

% New York Times7-22-1962.

% Rockland County Clerk of Court, Map #s 6867-6871, filed 1-6-1995.
°> Rockland County Clerk of Court, Map #3410, filed 1-12-1966.
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h ouse at 11 Robin Hood .ﬁoad, built 1965, isa  Thissimilar, but slightly Iérger, Colonial Revival-;s'tylé
typical “Colonia” in the “Ramapo Hills’ house at 36 West Gate Road was built in 1967 in the
subdivision. Dexter Manor subdivision.

The Modern period became popul ar after World War Il and found expression in domestic
architecture of the 1950s, 60s and 70s. Montebello, with its proximity to New Y ork City and
rapidly developing landscape, was fertile ground on which the architectural seeds of that time
could be sown. Two subdivisions, along with a number of individual buildings, are notable for
their interpretations of these trends. And while these buildings do not meet the 50-year threshold
to be considered historic, they do represent locally significant examples of this architectural style
and period.

Charnwood Forest was a 29-lot subdivision off the east side of Mile Road filed in late 1965.% It
was the first subdivision developed with distinctive Modern homes on its two cul-de-sacs—
Charnwood Drive/L ongbow Road and Druid Court.”® The facades are asymmetrical; some are
split levels. Windows are expansive, reaching up to the roof eaves, and the roof rafters are
oversized and exposed. Severa of the houses feature prominent round-topped skylights atop
pyramidal roof forms; one house combines multiple gable peaks with flat-roofed sections, while
another has atremendous front gabled expanse made possible by technological advancesin
construction materials and application of industrial approaches.

The now matured naturalistic landscaping throughout the Charnwood Forest neighborhood, with
minimal lawn areas, enhances the cohesiveness of this distinctive group of Modern-styled
dwellings. Though it will be another decade before all will reach 50 years of age, they represent
agood candidate for afuture historic district, as shown in the following photographs.

%2 Rockland County Clerk of Court, Map #3396, filed 11-16-1965.

% There is one exception to the Modern architectural styles embodied by these late-1960s, early-1970s houses, that
being #10 Druid Court, a 2-story Colonial Revival painted white in contrast to the dark brown and natural materials
on the neighboring houses.
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House at 10 LongbowRoad built 1973

The Suffern Knolls subdivision, filed in January of 1966, also offered alternatives to the
prevailing Colonials and ranches being developed nearby.* It adjoined the south and east
sides of “Ramapo Hills” and extended Robin Hood Road to connect with a new road,
Heatherhill Lane, that accessed Mile Road at its eastern end. A cul-de-sac, Brigadoon Lane,
ran south from Heatherhill Lane two lots west of Mile Road. Nearly all the housesin this
development were raised ranches designed in the Modern architectural idiom. Stripped of
unnecessary ornamentation, they feature wide overhanging eaves angled outward at the gable
ends, corner window configurations, entrance door surrounds with large plate-glass transoms
and sidelights, and angled transom windows up to the eaves in the gable ends. Wood sidingis

% Rockland County Clerk of Court, Map #3416, filed 1-28-1966/revised 6-29-1966.
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often vertical, angled, or flush planks rather than the traditional horizontal clapboard. The
neighborhood also contains a double house (26 Robin Hood Road). In short, the collective
visua expression of these residencesisin sharp contrast to the adjacent neighborhood. Like
Charnwood Forest, Suffern Knollsis distinctive enough to be afuture historic district if
demolitions, new construction, and aterations are held to a minimum in the next decade. The
following photographs illustrate the cohesive visual character of this neighborhood.

e = %

obin Hood Road, 1967,

In addition to the homes in these two neighborhoods, there are at least three Modern dwellings
on individual lots that could be locally significant as representative of this architectural style.
Indeed, the architect-designed house at 646 Haverstraw Road is now over 50 years old and
could be eligible for the National Register. All three houses are illustrated as follows:
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646 Haverstraw Road, buIt c. 1951, designed by its architect-owner
Alan S/ Ballou.

44 Mile Road, built 1978.
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Late 20" & Early 21% Century Residential Development

One of the first housesin the last quarter of the 20™ century to return to formal architectural
classicism is the Damon-Goldberg House at 24 Viola Road. Constructed only 34 years ago, it
displays aNeo-Classical style. The property has retained much of the formally designed original
landscape of the previous country retreat which dated to the early 20" century. In addition, farm
buildings connect it to the property’s historical past as afarmstead. It isunknown whether the
cider mill that once existed here is till in evidence, but historical accounts suggest that the
grounds may contain archeological evidence of this earlier function.

Aeria vi of the extensi residential prty at 24 Viola Road; house built
in 1976 is at bottom center.

In the last years of the 20™ century and the first decade of the 21st, residential development in the
Village has continued to be strong and is remarkably uniform in the types of houses constructed.
Most were built within multi-lot subdivisions—at least 18 were filed during these 30 years.
These houses are far larger in scale than those of the immediate post-WW Il eraand are, for the
most part, traditional in their architectural styles. This period would also see the development of
numerous apartment complexes in the vicinity, though only one in Montebello.

The house at 100 Montebello Road is an example of the continuing popularity of the Colonial
Revival Style with its 5-bay front facade and center entrance into the 21 century. The house
was originally built in 1952, but was completely remodeled into its present appearance c. 2005.
The entrance door surround has sidelights and fanlight and the nearly full front porch has a
gabled feature that highlights the entrance. A right side ell incorporates a 2-stall tuck-under

garage.
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T’he house at 100 Montebello Rd., remodeled to its current appearanc in 2000.

Grandiose 2-story houses with articulated front facades, multiple roof lines, and large arched
windows characterize the single family homes that have been most recently constructed in
Montebello. The following photographsillustrate this prevailing contemporary take on
traditional architectural styles.

3 Plum Hill, built c. 2000, islocated in the 1994 “Plum Hills’ subdivision.
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The following three photographs are of houses |ocated on the former Henry L. Schwartz estate.
That property began to be developed in 1968 as Pine Tree Farms, but it was 1995 when the first
sections of the current extensive subdivision were filed.®

M—
6 and 4 Lety Lane, left to right; built 2003 and 2005, respectively.

20 Canterbury Lane, built 2005.

% “Pine Tree Farms’ subdivision received final approval from the Town of Ramapo in January 1968, per plans on
filein Montebello Village Hall.
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Two of the few Modern style houses in a subdivision are located on Rose Hill Road.

13 Rose Hill Road, built 1995,

The one major multi-family housing complex located within the Village is the Lackawanna
Condominiums, dating to 1993.% The 93 units are within 16 buildings on a parcel of land south
of 1-287 and wedged between the warehouse/distribution center at 20 Dunnigan Drive and the
Indian Rock Shopping Center on Rt. 59. The architectural styleisatraditional Colonial Revival
with gabled roofs and articulated front facades to distinguish each unit.

The Lackawanna Condominiums, built c. 1995, developed by the Indian Rock Corp.

% Rockland County Clerk of Court, Map #6747, filed 8-6-1993.
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Regionally-Oriented Development

Thelocal school district, looking to meet growing school populations, found the farms and large
estates that dominated Montebello’ s landscape to be logical choices for new school sites. The
“Barry Moore” estate was the first of these to be carved up for such ause. Nearly half of that
extensive property was sold by Helen Morgan, widow of George W. Morgan, to the Ramapo
School District for construction of the Suffern High School (now Suffern Middle School) in
1941.%" The building, though atered, has architectural significance due to having been designed
by architects Tooker & Marsh.®® They chose the Classica Revival style, which was customary
for large public buildings in this time period. Roman-arched windows, quoining, and a
substantial limestone cornice, are the architectural features that place the brick school in this
stylistic category.

The Suffern Middle School at 80 Hemion Road, built 1942 as a high school.

In 1967 the Ramapo Central School District 1 would purchase a neighboring strip of land from
the Institute for Christian Doctrine (which was aso previously part of Ryan’s“Barry Moore”
estate).”® Thiswould allow for the construction of the Montebello Road Elementary School to
the east of the Middle School building some 25 years later.

" Rockland County Deed: Liber 392, Page 469, 8-14-1941.

% http://www.pel hampreservati onsociety.com/id52.html: " Tooker & Marsh is best known for its designsin school
buildings. The firm was particularly prolific in upstate New Y ork, Long Island and New Jersey and its designs
include numerous grade schools, high schools and several colleges... Reginald Marsh... received his Bachelor's
Degree in 1906 from Cornell University where he majored in Architecture and his Master's Degree in Architecture
in 1907 From Cornell. He worked as a draftsman for Taylor and Levi (1907), McKim, Mead & White (1908),
Charles W. Leavitt (1909-11) and Trowbridge & Ackerman (1912-13)...In 1920, Tooker and Marsh wrote an
article for Architecture entitled "General Principles of School Planning and Construction” in which they outlined
underlying design concepts and requirements for school buildings. In 1960, Governor Rockefeller named Marsh
as one of eight architects to draw up standards for state schools...Although most of the firm's work focused on
school construction, Tooker and Marsh took on other commissions aswell. An early work of the firm was the
design for Bear Mountain Inn, the headquarters building for the Palisades Interstate Park, Bear Mountain, New
York.”

% Rockland County Deed: Liber 825, Page 616, 5-1967.
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The Montebello El émentary School, located at 50 Montebello Road.

Two other schools would find sites in the Montebello area of Ramapo: The Viola Elementary
School was built in 1970 on a site that was once a part of Kakiat Farm, north of Viola Road and
east of and accessible from Haverstraw Road.’®

’ 23 ,as/wl,-ﬂ’ e
Viola Elementary School, built 1970, at 557 Haverstraw Rd.

In 1970, the Suffern Senior High School, was constructed on land primarily bought nearly ten
years previously from Henry von L. Meyer Jr., owner of Cobblestone Farm on Viola Road.’*
Both schools exemplify modern school design, with strong horizontal massing and paneled
components. Because neither oneis 50 years old, their architectural significance will be a matter
for future evaluation.

R

Suffern High School, built 1970, at 49 Viola Rd.

1001911 Washburn Map.
101 Rockland County Deed:
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Regionally-oriented development in suburban communities includes religious buildings, such as
churches and synagogues, which often draw their congregants from surrounding communities.
Grace Lutheran of Suffern isagood example—even being named after the neighboring village to
the south. It was built in 1959 at 506 Haverstraw Road.

Grace Lutheran Church of Suffern, at 506 Haverstraw Rd., built 1959.

Another aspect of regiona development is the warehousing and distribution functions
established in the Town of Ramapo. These land uses require large acreages with ready access to
major arterials and railroads. Thus once the Tappan Zee Bridge and New Y ork State Thruway
were opened in 1955, it was only a matter of time before tracts aong the Erie Railroad and the
Thruway were developed for these uses. The oldest of severa warehouse buildings was built in
1965 and is located at the west end of Dunnigan Dr. Two other buildings with similar functions
have been constructed since to the east of this property.

NN

e

Rockland Warehouse and distribution center at 20 Dunnigan Dr., built 1965.
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The market for retail stores grew in direct proportion to the residential development that
continued to expand unabated throughout the second half of the 20™ century. Rt. 59, which
delimits the southern boundary of the Village of Montebello, was the mgjor arterial that became
the location of choice for new auto-oriented retail development that would serve the region.
(And it had long been the route along which commercial activity was centered, thus zoning
regulations allowed for its expansion here.) When the Village was formed in 1986, it included a
previously developed commercial tract on the northwest corner of Rt. 59 and Hemion Road
intersection—the Rube Goldberg Shopping Center, constructed 1977-80, amended 2000. The
northeast corner of that intersection wasn't developed until 1999, when the Indian Rock
Shopping Center was constructed under the Montebello’ s regulatory review. This may have
been what saved the famous “ Indian Rock” from destruction.

The “Indian Rock,” above left, for which the 1999 dian Rock Shopping Center, on right, is named.

Commercial development in Montebello in late 20" century included office commercial. The
trend for large company headquarters and office complexes to move out from city centersto
suburban locations came in response not only to cheaper land prices but also to the availability of
an educated female work force living in these areas. Like warehouse distribution centers, such
office centers need locations accessible from major aerial transportation routes. Consequently,
the large tracts of land along the north side of the I-287 corridor at the Airmont Road interchange
were logical locations for thisland use. Severa of the office buildings constructed here
represent notable examples of large-scale architecture. They reflect glass curtain wall building
technologies and the clean, crisp lines of Modern tastes.

1 Executive Blvd., built 1980. - 2 Executive Blvd., built 1990.
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4 Executive Blvd., built 2001.
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L andscapes

Therelatively recent development of the Village as an outlying suburb of the New Y ork City
metropolitan area has resulted in a general 1oss of open space and rural character. Once open
fields were ripe for large housing subdivisions, which have been continuously developed since
the mid-20™ century. Exempt from such development have been the documented wetlands,
which are considered natural versus designed landscapes, even though they have frequently been
altered in the past and even, more recently, created to address runoff and habitat issues
associated with residential development. Since they are protected by other Village, County, and
State regulations, these landscapes do not generally require additional historic preservation
regulation.

Similarly, the Mahwah River, is anatural landscape and valuable community amenity that is
governed by State conservation protections. With its wooded shores, theriver isrelatively
hidden from public view except at key locations. These vantage points include the stone bridge
on Montebello Road, the Viola Road and Mayer Drive bridge spans, and trails through Kakiat
County Park (which is outside Village boundaries). Because there are so few serendipitous
river-viewing opportunities, the HPC may have aroleto play in ensuring that these vantage
points are not compromised.

o \"..{ hof
The bridge over the Mahwah River at Montebello Road and Lake Road.

->

The arterial roads of the Village, which are historic routes,’® provide the most salient evidence
of itsrural past, being lined almost continuously with stone walls. Many collector and local
roads are also lined with stone walls, both old and new. These structures visually define property

192 Montebello Road, Haverstraw Road, Viola Road, Spook Rock Road, and Mile Road all serve as minor and major
arterials throughout the Village.
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boundaries and, despite their disparate construction methods and dates, imbue the roads with a
sense of the community’ srural past. Where stone piers flank driveway entrances to private
properties, they also signal the country retreat period of development in the village—a tradition
that continuestoday. The stone walls visually complement the natural rocky terrain and provide
some measure of cohesiveness between the historic and newer properties along these routes.
Protective measures to ensure their long-term preservation is indicated.

Stone wall south side of Kings Gate Road, at
Haverstraw Road.

Stone wall on north side of Victory Road. Stone wall ’ 257 Spook Rck Road.
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The designed landscape and open areas within the Spook Rock Golf Course provides a
provides outstanding views to the Ramapo Mountains from its rolling hills and manicured
lawns. These views are also enjoyed by those who simply travel aong the southern section of
Spook Rock Road. While the 34-acre golf course is not yet 50 years old—three large tracks of
land were purchased in 1967 by the Town of Ramapo and the course opened in the fall of
1969—it is a significant landscape that will become increasingly valued over time. It may
well deserve special historic preservation protections as it celebrates its 50 anniversary in
2019. Thisissupported by the fact that it has hosted the MGA Public Links Championship
three times in its young life.'® Previous to its development as a golf course, the tract was
utilized as a Boy Scout camp and Jamboree site—one of the first in the nation, which adds to
its historical significance.’™

N e, P

View of th ook Rock Golf Course.

193 pr, william L Quirin, the Metropolitan Golf Association. Golf Clubs of the MGA-A Centennial History of Golfin
the New Y ork Metropolitan Area (Elmsford, N.Y.: Golf Magazine Properties: 1997) p.186.
10% http://www.ramapoparks.org/index.php?s=4& b=5
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V. Observations & Potential Next Steps

Asthe HPC plans for future preservation efforts, the following observations of the Village's
historic resources resulting from this survey and suggestions as to potential actions should
provide guidance in its deliberations. William E. Krattinger, the Historic Specialist and Field
Representative for Rockland County at the State Historic Preservation Office/NY S Office of
Parks, Recreation and Historic Preservation was consulted with regard to whether State and
National Register designations would be successful, and the suggested actions reflect this.

1.

Consider nominating properties to the National Register of Historic Places in advance of
seeking local designations of historic buildings in order to educate property owners and the
public of the benefitsinvolved. The National Register designation does not put restrictions
on private property owners, but does alow some protection from federal and state
government actions that could compromise their historic integrity or context. In the future,
asthe general public beginsto redlize the significance of these individual properties and
groups of homes, and the owners gain a sense of pride in them, local designation should be
more feasible.

The Borsodi School of Living colony along Bayard Lane and Haverstraw Road is a good
candidate for nomination as a district to the National Register of Historic Places. Asan
early subdivision it has a unique and compelling history that deserves to be more widely
known. More intensive documentation of the houses and awritten history of this
cooperative settlement, its context, and significance will be necessary to complete a
National Register nomination form and see it through the state review process. The
boundaries of the original plat provide the best rationale for historic district boundaries,
even though this includes a few non-contributing houses. A list of the properties for
inclusion can be found in Appendix C.

A thematic nomination of historically significant early farm buildings to the National
Register of Historic Places would likely meet with approval from the State Review Board as
these buildings are the remnants of Montebello’s rural history. This survey has identified
23 properties (including the locally designated farmhouse at 84 Viola Rd.) that could be
included in such athematic designation. Intervening new construction makes a historic
district impossible. (See Appendix C.)

A second thematic nomination to the National Register is suggested for those houses that
fall within the two Country Retreats categories identified in this survey. This survey has
identified 20 properties (including the locally designated Fant Farm and Montebello
properties) that could be included in such athematic designation. This may be aless
pressing need than the previous recommendation as these larger buildings seem not to be
threatened at the moment. One exception may be the “Barry Moore” property at 38
Montebello Road, now owned by the Institute for Christian Doctrine, which appears to be
underutilized and subject to deferred maintenance. Another concern is the possibility that it
could become the target for vandals. (See Appendix C.)

National Register Historic District nominations should be considered for atwo mid-20"
century subdivisions. One of these isthe small “Deer Kill Estates’” subdivision that dates to
1958 and encompasses the buildings aong Kevin Drive. These houses retain their original
scale and form to a large degree, which provides the neighborhood with its integrity and
visual cohesiveness. Another would encompass Sections 1, 2, 3 and 4A of Montebello
Estates, plans for which were filed in 1948, 1956 and 1958. While these may seem like
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10.

11.

long-shots for National Register status, a case can be made for these devel opments having
had a great impact on the village's current form. Also, many of the architectural forms
found in these neighborhoods are no longer being constructed, and as such are clear
representations of adistinct period in construction history. Based on alocal level of
significance, such nominations would put Montebello on the cutting edge of mid-20"
century designations. Additional research into these neighborhoods—the devel opers,
architects, builders, and first residents will be necessary to complete such nominations.
(See Appendix C.)

Consider local historic district designation for properties at the west end of Montebello
Road that includes the stone bridge at that location. While this area may not be a candidate
for National Register district designation, it serves as one of the several gateways into the
Village and has a significant historic farmstead—the Wanamaker House—anchoring it.
These groupings of houses together with the Mahwah River and stone bridge do much to
visualy convey the historic legacy of Montebello. Thiswould also help ensure that when
periodic reconstruction of bridgesis undertaken, the HPC would be included reviews of any
proposed changes, and be able to advocate for enhanced pedestrian amenities that
complement the historic surroundings. (See Appendix C.)

Undertake further research into the Suffern Terrace development centered on Orchard Street
and consult with the Village of Suffern asto the possibility of alocal district designation of
alarger area encompassing it and development directly to the south. Suffern Terrace
represents the first subdivision in the Montebello area, dating to the early 20" century. As
such it may have been amodel for similar development in the Village of Suffernin the area
immediately to the south. Many of the homes along Orchard Street retain their integrity,
while a number of others have been altered and there have been a couple of intrusions.
Although the overall level of integrity is not high enough at present to meet National
Register standards, the neighborhood still has a historic character that could be revived with
careful oversight.

Recognize the last remaining properties in Montebello associated with early 19™-century
industrial development with designation: 104 and 106 Montebello Road.

Consult with the owners of 646 Haverstraw Road to ascertain their interest in nominating
the Modern architect-designed house to the National Register of Historic Places as alocally
significant building under Criteria C.

Initiate a public education and outreach campaign to heighten awareness of Montebello’s
historic and architectural resources. Produce a booklet that will assist homeownersin
understanding the original character of their mid-20™ century and Modern houses and
suggest ways additions and upgrading can take place without loss of their character.
Appendix E provides an example of such a booklet that found great success in the outer
suburbs of Minneapolis, Minnesota, dating to the same period as Montebel | o.

Consider advocating for strong village protections for extant stone walls along all historic
routes and roadways. New subdivisionsin particular perhaps should be required to
construct stone walls along their boundaries in order to strengthen the rural character of the
roadways.
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APPENDIX A
Chronology of Development

First attempt to purchase land in Rockland County/Ramapo area.
Rapid land speculation in Ramapo, but no settlement of areato speak of.
Kakiat Patent granted by King William I11 to Daniel Honan.

Blandina Bayard purchased 5 tracts of land from the Ramapough, Jaapough,
Jandekagh, Arigee and Camguee Indians (the “Gore Line” defines the NW side of
these tracts. She improved and settled thisland and Ieft it to Petrus and Sarah
Bayard. Petrus widow moved away but retained ownership.

John Van Blarcum purchased 400 acres from the Indians in Ramapo Clove.

Land in Rockland County originally claimed by both New Y ork and New Jersey
aswell asby 3 different patentsin New Y ork: Kakiat, Wawayanda and
Cheescocks. Peter Sonmans, son of Aavent Sonmans, representing himself as the
sole agent of “the 24 proprietors of New Jersey” conveyed 42,500 acresin
northern New Jersey lying between the Ramapo and Saddle Rivers (then called
“the Romopock Tract”) to John Auboineaur, E. Boudinot, Peter Fauconier, L.
Kiersted, Jahn Barbarie, Thomas Barjaux, Andrew Fresneau, and Peter Bard.
Land sold by some to Theodore Valleau, David Stout, Magdalene Valleau
(daughter of William Fauconier)- Coenard Wannamaker received 05 acres of the
900 granted to M. Valleau.

David Ackerman sold a mill-right of 1 acre to Jacobus Van Buskirk.

Line between New Y ork and New Jersey established; defined the south boundary
of Town of Ramapo.

Land dispute between Kakiat and Cheescocks settled; Town of Ramapo
subsequently divided into two sections—Kakiat patent and vacant lands
(illustrated on 1786 map).

John Suffern settled in the Village that bears his name.

The boundary line between New Y ork and New Jersey was reported to have been
finally surveyed.

Three persons recognized by the King George 111 as owning land within the
“Vacant Lands’ section: John Sobisco (630 acres near Tallmans), Coenard
Wannamaker (105 acres near 15" milestone on New Jersey line), and Jacobus
VanBuskirk, millwright (1 acre on Mahwah stream at point where the Nyack
Turnpike crossesit). (Historian Frank B. Green noted that the Sterling Co. may
have held avalid title to afew acres in the extreme west portion of the V acant
Lands.)

! Frank Bertangue Green, MD, History of Rockland County, p 257.
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King George |11 granted 4 patents: James Marcus Provost patent, 5000 acres,
Robert Harris patent, 2000 acres; Jacob Muller patent, 3000 acres and Spence
patent, 1820 acres. [Rev. E. B. Cobb’s History]

Rockland County was separated from greater Orange County.

The Scottish-born Robert Erskine, who was appointed Geographer and Surveyor
Genera by George Washington in 1777, drew upwards of 275 maps of the
northern sector of the Revolutionary War one of which was dated this year and
illustrated a colonial road in the alignment of Haverstraw Road (lower Rt. 202)
and Viola Road.

Farmsteads Established:

Conklin-Sherwood Farm — 1 Copeland Dr.
Henry Wanamaker Farm — 51 Montebello Rd.
Johnson Farm — 84-86 Viola Rd.

Claims of the Cheesecocks and Waywayanda in area of the Town of Ramapo
settled with the running of a boundary line from the northwest corner of the Patent
of Kakiat to the 31% mile stone on the New Jersey line. Thelinewas“run”
(surveyed) by Charles Clinton jr., son of General James Clinton and called the
“GoreLine” Theland areain Orange and Rockland counties bounded by it, the
New Jersey Line and the west boundary of Kakiat was familiarly known as the
“Jersey Gore,” though it was officially called, in areport to the Legislature,
“Vacant lands between the lately established boundary line of the Patent of
Cheesecocks and the State of New Jersey.? This line divided the Town of
Ramapo in two.

Areaofficially becomes the Town of Hampstead.

State of New Y ork passes legislation calling for the improvement of road
networks.

The Federal Census states that the newly created Rockland County had a total
population of 6,353, with the Town of Ramapo having the largest population of
all the townswith 1,931 residents.

First steamship, “The Clermont” built for travel on the Hudson River.

Saw and grist mill constructed on the north side of Viola Road by Abbot Cooper.

James Y oung Farm Established — 62 Airmont Rd. N. (Montebello Historic
Landmark).

State Route 202 established.

2 Green, p. 257.
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L.D.N Coe Farm established — 500 Haverstraw Rd.

Farmsteads Established:
R. Johnson Farm - 96 Viola Rd.
J. Wanamaker Farm — 37 Montebello Rd.

Forshay and Conklin families settled area at intersection of Old Kings Road
(ViolaRoad) and Haverstraw Road (Rt. 202), formerly known as “Forshay’s
Corners; location of an early polling place and distillery; buildings no longer
extant.

Steamship ferry service established across Hudson River between pointsin
Rockland and Westchester counties by the Nyack Steamboat Association. Itsfirst
ferry was“ The Orange” (facetiously known as “ The Flying Dutchman”).

Town renamed “Ramapo” to avoid confusion with the Town of Hempstead on
Long Island.

Rev. Benjamin Sherwood establishes his farmstead on Haverstraw Rd. on
Conklin-Sherwood estate.

Charter granted to the New Y ork and Erie Railroad by New Y ork Governor
Clinton, to connect the Hudson River at Piermont to Lake Erie on the west at
Dunkirk. Actua construction began in 1836.

Wanamaker Grist & Saw Mill Constructed — 106 Montebello Rd.
James J. Wanamaker House next to Grist & Saw Mill — 104 Montebello Rd.

Numerous farmsteads established:

A. W. Coe House at 519 Haverstraw Road

Quackenbush Farm along Viola Rd/Emerald Lane (later became Henry von L.
Meyer’s Cobblestone Farm)

D. Sherwood Farm — 396 Haverstraw Rd.

J. Young Farm — 199 Spook Rock Rd.

The railroad section from Piermont to Goshen opened, serving the Town of
Ramapo, along width other Rockland County communities. Sufferns Depot
established.

The Paterson and Ramapo Railroad and Union Railroad opened, providing a
connection between the NY and Erie Railroad at the village of Suffern and Jersey
City, New Jersey.
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Farmsteads established:

J. N. Wanamaker Farm — 115 Montebello Rd.

J. T. Young Farm — 46 Mile Rd.

S. R. Johnson Farm — 236 Spook Rock Rd.

S. Johnson Farm — 126 Viola Rd.

E. J. Stuart Farm — 314 Haverstraw Rd.

J. J. Coe Farm — 519 Haverstraw Rd.

l. [or J.] Depew Farm — 556 Haverstraw Rd.

C. Fredericks Farm — 63 Mile Rd.

J. Conklin Farm — 253-257 Spook Rock Rd. (Montebello Historic Landmark)

The New York and Erie Railroad went into receivership due to the large costs of
building, and on June 25, 1861 it was reorganized as the Erie Railway.

Farmsteads established:
T. Hillard Farm — 395 Haverstraw Rd.
Mrs. Wanamaker Farm — 33 Mile Rd.

Grist & Saw Mill established near 6 ViolaRd. (J. J. Coein 1876)
The last steamship, “ The Chrystenah” constructed.
steamship ferry service ended

Farmsteads Established:

James J. Wanamaker — 77 Mile Rd.

T. W. Howell Farm — 32 Montebello Rd.
S. Blauvelt Farm — 144 Spook Rock Rd.
T. Springsteen — 10 Colline Dr.

G. S. Conklin Farm — 603 Haverstraw Rd.
J. J. Quackenbush Farm — 40 Mile Rd.

T. Cookfaice Farm — 106 ViolaRd.

Farmsteads Established:
R. W. Blauvelt Farm — 578 Haverstraw Rd.
T. Williams Farm — 224 Haverstraw Rd.

Census revealed a population of 116,245 in Rockland and Orange counties, with
the agricultural and mineral wealth of these areas exceeded by no other provincial
section of the State of New Y ork.

Mechar;i csvillerenamed Violawhen U.S. government established new post
offices.

Ira’Y oung added awing to his house (apparently at 46 Mile Road).*

3 “Rememberances of Viola,” South of the Mountains Vol. 26, No. 1; Jan.-Mar. 1982.
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RR Station established at Suffern; encouraged the development of country estates
by wealthy NY C residents.

Barn constructed at 84 Viola Road.”

Fieldstone Farm constructed by Thomas F. Ryan — 62 Montebello Rd.

John Phillips Sousa reputedly rents the A. W. Coe farmhouse on Haverstraw
Road.

Ida and Thomas Fortune Ryan’s 44-room mansion, “Montebello” constructed on
the site of the 1860s homestead of stockbroker David Groesbeck; initialy a
summer home, later a year-round dwelling for widow Ryan (75 Montebello Road
— designated a Montebello Landmark).

Mrs. Thomas F. Ryan donated 40 acres of land adjoining her summer residence to
the Sisters of Charity of the Good Samaritan Hospital at Suffern.®

Lincoln Fisher Log Cabin in Kakait Park constructed.

Henry von L. Meyer Sr. purchased 200 acres to create his estate, Cobblestone
Farm, on Viola Road, which was established as a mode farm.”

J. B. Campbell’ s new house [34-36 Montebello Road] reported as being nearly
completed.?

Walter F. Feldmann Farm at 96 Viola Road sold to George W. Morgan.’
["Morgan" on 1911 map.]

A. W. Coe House built on Haverstraw Road.

Date on “Map of Suffern Terrace — Property of Jacob Greenfeld [sic-
Greenfield]”; map not filed until September 7, 1937.

George Parly Day, treasurer of Yale University, and wife Wilhelmine O. Day,
sold their property on Haverstraw Road [now 1 Copeland Drive] to Walter Hoff
Seeley of NYC.*°

Ira'Y oung constructing a new home [at 41 Viola Road]."

* Nyack Journal, 9-7-1893. The 1911 Washburn Map depicts a house in the vicinity of 46 Mile Road with the label

“l. Young.”

> Rockland County Leader, 11-1-1966; “100-year-old barn destroyed by fire.”

® City and Country, 7-29-1905.

" Rockland Journal News, 1997 article, from files of Village Historian Craig Long.
& Nyack Evening Journal News 11-29-1907.

® Nyack Journal, 1-16-1909.

19City and Country, 5-24-1913.
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The George P. Day estate “ Dexter Manor” on Haverstraw Road (now 1 Copeland
Drive) purchased Dr. Royal S. Copeland, ophthalmologist & Dean of New Y ork
Flower Hospital Medical Collegein NY C, appointed NY C Commissioner of
Public Health & President of NY Board of Health in 1918; elected to the U.S.
Senate in 1922 & reelected in 1928 & 1934.

Blind Player’s Club of Brooklyn purchased a 10-acre property on Montebello
Road (now number 103) for a summer camp; extensive improvements made in
1926.™ The concrete-block clubhouse, now on a subdivided parcel, number 101
Montebello Road, was constructed and dedicated in 1956.%

Richard Roderman of NY C purchased the farm at 96 Viola Road from Walter F.
Feldmann.

Map filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court (file #1532) showing a 2.25-acre
lot, which became 41 ViolaRd., created by IraN. Y oung.

Mrs. Clara Lamborn bought the 110-acre Fenton Sherwood Farm on Rt. 202 [395
Haverstraw Road].

Map filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court (file# 1919) of Lands of the
Heirs of Eugene B. Wanamaker, establishing northerly lot line of 5.25-acre
property on NE corner of Montebello Rd. and Lake Ave.

George W. Morgan, owner of “Barry Moore” at 38 Montebello Road died in Hot
Springs, Virginia. Hisobituary in the New Y ork Timesoutlined highlights of his
career, which included the position of Deputy Assistant District Attorney [of
NYC], principa inthe NY C law firm of Breed, Abbott & Morgan, and former
State Superintendent of Elections.*

Joseph Bitterman House on Haverstraw Road constructed by him.
“The Harry Goldberg place on Viola Road [number 24], ‘ Three Brooks'...of 54

acres, dwelling, barns, etc....sold to Mr. William Mills of Suffern...has polo
ponies.”?

! Rockland County Journal, 7-21-1915; File No. 1532, Rockland County Deeds, map dated 1915 and filed 9-24-
1925 illustrates the present ot with address of 41 Viola Road which appearsto have been divided from his
property at 37 Viola Road per the 1911 Washburn Map and subsequently sold to Helen R. M. Peck.

2 New York Times4-15-1927; Ramapo Valley Independent, 10-25-1951 (obituary for Miss Evalyn M. Griswold).

3 New York Times6-13-1956 (letter to the editor by Dwight C. Smith, General Secretary, John Milton Society for

the Blind.

1 New York Times3-29-1931.
5 The Journal News, 10-6-1934.
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Nov 13 1934 Deed filed transferring property at 126-128 Viola Road from the heirs of Emma

1934 -35

1937

1938

Sep 18 1940

1941

1942

1945

R. Johnson (deceased) to William Walter Commons, a Brooklyn native and
Senior Executive of Time, Inc. (publisher of Time Magazine). He drowned in
Sarasota, Floridain 1942 at the age of 38.%°

Borsodi School of Living established, by Ralph Borsodi, whose Independence
Foundation advocated agrarian self-sufficiency; a cooperative settlement of 40
acres with 17 homesteads on lots of 1 to 3 acres |ocated along Bayard Lane.

“Beautiful Watson Estate Sold to City Physician” “The spacious picturesgue
country estate of Mrs. Jesse S. Watson and Dr. John C. Watson on the Viola Road
near Mile Road...” " The 48.6-acre parcel on north side of Viola Road mapped
by H. Schumaker and dated May 18, 1937, includes properties at 24 Viola Road
and portions of the Montebello Fields and Montebello West subdivision.*®

Mrs. M. Marion Barker sold her 6-acre property with 7-room dwelling and a
small bungalow (at ~ 26 N. Airmont Road) to Joshua Myron of NYC; hewas a
druggist who owned a chain of storesin the city.*

Map #1861 filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court of the “Bayard Lane
School of Living - Independence foundation Inc. Project No. 1” illustrating 30
lots, 19 existing dwellings, and 1 proposed dwelling.

Helen Demuth Morgan, widow of George W. Morgan, sold a portion of the
“Barry Moore” property at 38 Montebello Road sold to the Ramapo School
District for development of the Suffern Middle School . %

Suffern Middle School constructed; architect: Tooker & Marsh.

A Cazpl)e Cod dwelling” in the Kakait Farms subdivision sold to Mrs. Marian
Berri.

Dr. & Mrs. H. S. Patterson sold their 10-acre property with house, cottage,
hothouse & swimming pool to Mr. & Mrs. Lincoln Mosley.?

Mrs. Byron Dexter of New Y ork City, widow of William Walter Commons, sold
property at 126-128 Viola Road to Mrs. E. Armand Scala; the property had been
rented to the Arthur Ruel Thompson family after the death of William
Commons.®

16 Rockland County Deeds, Liber 348, Page 244; The Rockland Leader, 3-19-1942.
Y The Journal News, 5-7-1937.

'8 Rockland County Clerk of Court, Map No. 537, filed 8-16-2000.

1 uncited newspaper article, 7-5-1945.

% yncited newspaper article, 8-14-1941.

2 New York Times1-18-1942.

2 Ramapo Valley Independent, 7-5-1945.

# The Rockland L eader, 10-25-1945.
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“[Fenton] Sherwood property on Haverstraw Road near Suffern [number 395]
sold to Mr. and Mrs. Donald S. Hastings...well over a century old, situated on 1¥2
acres.”* Deed statesit was sold to Donald F. and Elizabeth M. Hastings.”®

Map #2077 filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court of a 75-lot residential
subdivision, “Montebello Estates — Sec. 1” located between Montebello Road and
River Drive, dlong Mayer Drive and incorporating Victory Road.

Map #2076 filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court of a 32-lot residential
subdivision, “Montebello Estates — Sec. 2" located north of Montebello Road,
along Mayer Drive and illustrating the cul-de-sac, East Place.

The population of the Town of Ramapo was 20,584. Fewer than 150 farms
remained in Rockland County by this year.

Construction began on homes in the “Ramapo Hills’ subdivision; developer
Valley Builders, Inc. headed by Robert G. Follette; Clarence Tabor, Architect;
Francis X. Rousseaux, Generl Construction Supervisor; “ The Ramapo” model
shown by June; WWI1 veterans offered discounted mortgages (4% vs 4.5%);
advertised as being located “only 55 minutes from NY C.”%

First buyers of homesin “Ramapo Hills’ announced. They were: Dr. Morris
Pines, Alfred A. Albert, Sigmund G. Bilaief, Alfred W. Cook, William A.
McComb, James F. Corbet, John Dee, and Seymour Erdreich.?’

Construction began on the Tappan Zee Bridge between Nyack in Rockland
County and Tarrytown in Westchester County.

Map #2260 filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court for a 16-lot residential
subdivision, “Brook Knolls,” located east of Rt. 202/Haverstraw Road, north of
Bayard Lane, incorporating a new loop road, Orchard Circle.

Heathermont Hills, a 34-lot subdivision by the Elbuff Corp., had two model
homes under construction, described as “ Georgian split-level” and “ 1-story
Ranch.”

Map #2454 filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court for 2-lot subdivision of
land of Wilbur Ward located at the southeasterly corner of Haverstraw Road and
Grand View Ave.

“Camp Montebello” dedicated.

2 Rockland County Journal, 10-14-1948

% Rockland County Deeds, Liber 485, Page 293.

% New York Timesarticles and advertisements in 4-23-1950; 5-21-1950; 6-11-1950; 6-25-1950.
2" New Y ork Times10-15-1950.
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Ramapo Estates, Inc. of Fort Lee, NJ, announced its plans for aresidential
development with 134 custom built homes on the former estate of Henry Mayer.
Theresidential lots ranged in size from ¥z acre to 2 acres, with homes selling for
$24,500 and up.?®

Map # 2329 filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court for a 22-1ot residential
subdivision, “Ward Ling Park,” located at the southwest corner of Spook Rock
Road and Grand View Avenue, and incorporating the new roadway, Linda Drive.

The Tappan Zee Bridge opened for traffic, along with a 27-mile section of the
New Y ork Thruway between Suffern on the west side of the Hudson River and
Y onkers on the east.

Map #2395 filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court for a 36-lot residential
subdivision, “Montebello Estates — Sec. 3" located east of the Mahwah River,
south of Victory Road, incorporating atriangular alignment of roadways, Moriah
Land, River Road, and Rocklyn Drive.

Governor W. Averell Harriman signed a bill officially naming the new bridge,
“Tappan Zee” (in 1994 the name Malcolm Wilson was added to the name to
commemorate the 20™ anniversary of his leaving the governor’s office).

Third section of Ramapo Hills subdivision with 36 single family lots ranging in
size from 2/3to 1 acre available.®

Map # 2503 filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court for a 50-1ot subdivision,
“Ward Ling Park — East Section” located east of Spook Road Road and south of
Grand View Avenue, incorporating the new roadways Caroll Drive, Marget Ann
Lane and Bruce Court.

Map # 2549 filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court for a 34-lot subdivision,
“Montebello Estates — Section 4A,” located east of Mayer Drive, incorporating
the new roadways, East Mayor Drive, Nottingham Drive, Robin Hood Road, and
Sterling Forest Lane.

Map # 2619 filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court for a 35-1ot subdivision,
“Montebello Estates — Section 4B,” (partially reconfiguring Section 4A) located
west of Mile Road, incorporating previously platted East Mayer Drive,
Nottingham Drive, Sterling Forest Lane, and two new roadways, Little John’'s
Lane and Friar Way (neither of which were actually devel oped).

Map # 2621 filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court for a 18-lot subdivision,
“Deer Kill Estates,” located east of Haverstraw Road and roughly midway

2 New York Times6-19-1955.
2 New York Times7-29-1956.
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between Grand View Avenue and Viola Road, incorporating the new cul-de-sac,
Kevin Drive.

Population of the Town of Ramapo was 35,064 (a 70% increase from 1950).

The Georgian Colonial manor house at 38 Montebello Road (“Barry Moore”) was
sold by the American Brake Shoe Co. to the Institute of Christian Doctrine of
Nyack, NY for over $200,000.%°

Map #2898 filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court for a 18-lot subdivision,
“Country Homes of Viola,” located south of Viola Road between Mile Road and
Spook Rock Road, incorporating the new cul-de-sac, Canterbury Lane.

Rockland County purchased 352-acre property that became Kakiat Park, which
started the process of creating a Rockland County Parks Commission®

Map #3052 filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court for a 12-lot subdivision,
“Montebello Estates — Section 4C,” located along East Mayer Drive, including
roadways Friar Way and Nottingham Drive.

Map #3200 filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court for a 3-lot subdivision,
“Montebello Estates — Section 4D,” |ocated south of East Mayer Drive and east of
Robin Hood Road.

Map #3236 filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court for a 2-lot subdivision,
“Montebello Estates — Section 4E,” located at north end of Sterling Forest Lane.

Map #3333 filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court for aredivision of Lot 56
of Montebello Estates — Section 4 E and Lot 57 of Montebello Estates — Section
4A [lot line changg].

Map #3396 filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court for a29-lot subdivision,
“Charnwood Forest,” located east of Mile Road midway between Viola Road on
the north and Montebello Road on the south, incorporating the new cul-de-sacs,
Charnwood Drive, Longbow Road, and Druid Court.

Developers Norman Sirota and Marvin Putter developing property east of Mile
Road with houses in the “California Style” with post and beam construction and
open interior atriums.*

Boy Scouts contribute to maintenance of Kakiat Park.*

% The Journal News, 10-28-1960.

3L New Y ork Times10-24-1962.

% Rockland County Journal News, 9-30-1966.
3 New Y ork Times4-14-1966.
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Map #3410 filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court for a 33-lot subdivision,
“Dexter Manor Park,” located west of Haverstraw Road near its intersection with
Viola Road, incorporating the new roadways Copeland Drive, Babbling Brook
Lane, and West Gate Road.

Map #3416 filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court for a 33-lot subdivision,
“Suffern Knolls, Inc.” located west of Mile Road and north of Montebello Road,
incorporating the new roadway Heatherhill Lane, an extension of Robin Hood
Road, and new cul-de-sac,Brigadoon Drive.

Map #3493 filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court for a 10-lot subdivision,
“Lake Estates,” located east of Lake Road [labeled Wanamaker Road] and
incorporating the new cul-de-sac, Marian Drive.

Map #3622 filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court for an 8-lot subdivision,
“King's Gate — Section 1,” incorporating an extension of West Gate Road.

Map #3129 filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court for a 16-lot subdivision,
“Monroe Acres,” located north of Montebello Road west of Mile Road,
incorporating the roadways Karsten Drive [connecting to Robin Hood Road] and
cul-de-sac Astri Court.

Joshua Myron acquires land adjoining his at 26 N. Airmont Road from Richard
Munn Suffern & Eleanor Suffern Friebely.

Map #3731 filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court for a 15-lot subdivision,
“Sanlin Homes,” located west of Haverstraw Road, incorporating an extension of
West Gate Road and a new cul-de-sac, East Gate Road.

Map #3788 filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court for aminor subdivision of
property spanning Haverstraw Road, “King's Gate” creating 4 separate parcels (2
with existing houses).

Map #3916 filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court for a 37-lot subdivision,
“King's Gate — Sections 2, 3, 4" located west of Haverstraw Road, incorporating
an extension of West Gate Road, a new roadway, King's Gate Road, and 2 new
cul-de-sacs, Belvedere Path and Catherine Court.

Map #3917 filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court for aminor subdivision
for Helen Gelford and Fern and Lewis Lowenfels, creating 2 lots from a 5-acre
parcel on the north side of Montebello Road, west of River Road [address
numbers 95 and 97 Montebello Road].

Map #3926 filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court for aminor subdivision
for Wilbur W. Ward, creating two lots from a 4.62-acre parcel on the south side of
Grandview Avenue east of Haverstraw Road.
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Map #3958 filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court for aminor subdivision
for Harry J. and Frances T. Walker, creating two lots from a 3.75-acre parcel on
the northeast corner of Haverstraw and Wilbur roads.

Map #4295 filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court for aminor subdivision,
creating three lots from a 2.66-acre property on the northwest corner of
Havestraw Road and Babbling Brook Lane.

Map #4324 filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court for a4-lot subdivision,
“Highgate” with anew cul-de-sac, Highgate Court, extending from Sterling
Forest Lane. The map depicts houses at numbers 6 and 8 under construction.

Map #4356 filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court for a4-lot subdivision for
Dr. Peter DeMarco, located east of Mile Road south of its intersection with
Heatherhill Road, incorporating a new cul-de-sac/private roadway, Brentwood
Drive.

Map #s 4363 and 4364 filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court for
subdivision of alarge 53.48-acre parcel located north of Viola Road, with access
provided via a private driveway to three existing houses, comprising “Golden
Estates— Section 1,” and “Golden Estates — Section 2.” Map 4363 depicts 3 lots
with 1 existing house on lot 2 and 2 existing houses on lot 3. A third building is
depicted on lot 1, but is not noted whether it is existing or proposed. Map 4364
depicts lot 3with a*“studio.”

Map #4504 filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court for aminor subdivision
creating two lots from a 3.56-acre parcel for Van H. Wanamaker, located on the
southeast corner of Haverstraw and Wilbur roads.

Map #4575 filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court for aminor subdivision
creating two lots from a 1.58-acre parcel, located on the west side of Haverstraw
Road south of itsintersection with Lake Road, for John Bugbee [parcel owned by
Charles and Marjorie Bugbee; address numbers 218 and 224 Haverstraw Road)].

Map #4603 filed with Rockland County Clerk of Court for aminor subdivision
creating two lots from a 1.49-acre parcel, fronted by Haverstraw Road, Bayard
Lane, and Orchard Circle, for Harold and Margaret Stoughton.

Village of Montebello incorporated.

The plat of “Rustic Ridge,” a 20-lot subdivision that included Mills Road, filed
with the Rockland County Clerk of Court.

The Henry Schwartz estate, atract of 240 acres on the north side of Airmont Road
is proposed for a housing subdivision.>*

3 New York Times1-13-1988.
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The Village of Montebello contracted to buy a 1¥2-acre property with house on
the northwest corner of Montebello Road and North Airmont Road for use as its
Village Hall.*

The subdivision of the Henry L. Schwartz property is filed with Rockland County
Clerk, Map #s 6867 — 6871.

An amended plat of aportion of the Henry L. Schwartz property isfiled with
Rockland County Clerk, Map #6983.

Rockland County Historic Resource Survey conducted

Plat for “Montebello Pines,” i.e. the Henry L. Schwartz property is filed with
Rockland County Clerk, Map #s 7061-7065.

Howard Hellman, Bob Bowman & Larry Palumbo purchased remaining 35 acres
of Cobblestone Farm on Viola Road, the home of Henry von L. Meyer Jr., &
established Cobblestone Farm, Inc. to developed a subdivision that preserved the
early farmhouse and barn.

“Cobblestone Farm” subdivision plat, creating 15 single family lots, filed with
Rockland County Clerk, Map #7032.

Further plat maps for the Henry L. Schwartz property are filed with Rockland
County Clerk, Map #s 7115-7116.

Another plat map for the Henry L. Schwartz property are filed with Rockland
County Clerk, Map #s 7399.

Lety Lane section of the Henry L. Schwartz subdivision filed with Rockland
County Clerk, Map #7402.

“Montebello Fields and Montebello West — Lot 28" 25-1ot subdivision,
establishing Coe Farm Road, Sousa Lane, and Grist Mill Court filed with
Rockland County Clerk, map #7621.

The Historic Preservation Commission of Montebello established.

The Reconnaissance-level Historic Resource Survey of Montebello completed.

% uncited newspa per article, 4-1-1989, in Village Historian' s files.
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PROPERTIES SELECTED FOR POTENTIAL DESIGNATION

ParcellD

street #

street name

Estimated Current Land Use
Construc.

APPENDIX C

Historical Notes

Individually No
48.18-1-3

104

table/Historically Significant

MONTEBELLO RD

1840 1 FAMILY RES

House associated w/mill at 106 Montebello
Rd.; "J. Suffern" on 1854 O'Connor Map; "J.
[Jacob] Wanamaker" on 1876 Davis Map; "J.
Wannamaker" on 1887 Goldthwaite Map;
unlabeled on 1911 Washburn Map

48.18-1-2

Individually No
40.16-2-2.1

106

646

Early Farmhouse Theme

48.20-1-3

48.13-1-15

62

224

MONTEBELLO RD

table/Architecturally Significant

HAVERSTRAW RD

AIRMONT RD N

HAVERSTRAW RD

1840 1 FAMILY RES

19511 FAMILY RES

1810/1 FAMILY RES

1875/1 FAMILY RES

Bldg associated w/house at 104 Montebello
Rd.; not depicted on 1778 Erskine Map; The
James J. Wanamaker "Saw & Grist Mill"
[undated on Tholl Bicentennial Map];
"S.&G.Mill" on 1854 O'Connor Map; "S. Mill -
G. Mill" on 1859 French Map; "O.[Oil] Mill" on
1876 Davis Map "Grist Mill* on 1887
Goldthwaite Map; depicted but unlabeled on
1911 Washburn Map

Designed by owner Architect Alan Ballou; 6-
11-1951: Rockland County Deed: Book 528,
Page 168

"Jas. Young" on 1854 map; "Mrs. Young" on
1876 map; "Young" on Clair Tholl Map of
1975 (pre 1854)

"T. Williams" on 1876 Davis Map

48.10-1-18

325

HAVERSTRAW RD

1890|1 FAMILY RES

not on 1876 or 1887 maps; depicted on 1911
Washburn Map

48.6-1-29

48.7-1-51

395

500

HAVERSTRAW RD

HAVERSTRAW RD

1840|1 FAMILY RES

1817 MULT
RESIDENCES

"D. Sherwood" on 1876 Davis Map; "F.
Sherwood" on 1911 Washburn Map; sold to
Donald S. and Elizabeth M. Hastings in 1948

no evidence remains of the "B.S.Shop"
depicted in this vicinty on 1854 O'Connor
Map; "L.[Lawrence] D.N. Coe" on 1876 Davis
Map; "Poleskie" on 1887 Goldthwaite Map;
"A. Houston" on 1911 Washburn Map; rear
extension was moved to this site & may be
the Adam A. Forshay house depicted on the
1854, 1876 and 1887 maps; 1870 census
lists Lawrence D. N.Coe, a farmer age 45, &
Margaret Coe, age 46 as husband & wife

40.20-1-25

565

HAVERSTRAW RD

18601 FAMILY RES

"T. Hillard" on 1876 Davis & 1887
Goldthwaite maps; "T. Hillyer" on 1911
Washburn Map

40.19-1-17
48.12-1-2

578

HAVERSTRAW RD
MILE RD

18751 FAMILY RES
18501 FAMILY RES

"R.B." on 1876 Map [R. W. Blauvelt]
depicted on 1854 O'Connor Map; "C.
Johnson" on 1876 Davis map; "Peck" on
1911 Washburn Map

48.11-1-31

26

MILE RD

1860 1 FAMILY RES

"Adam Johnson" on 1876 Davis Map; "S.
Crowther" on 1911 Washburn Map

48.11-1-28
48.11-1-30

48.15-1-43

29
33

38

MILE RD
MILE RD

MILE RD

1880 1 FAMILY RES
1860 1 FAMILY RES

1860 1 FAMILY RES

"Benson" on 1911 Washburn Map

"Mrs. Wanamaker" on 1876 Davis Map;
"Sutherland" on 1911 Washburn Map

"J. Craws" on 1876 Davis Map; "Crouse" on
1911 Washburn Map

848.15-1-50

46

MILE RD

1850 1 FAMILY RES

depicted unlabled on Tholl Map; "Heirs"
[presumably of Young] on 1854 O'Connor
Map; "J.T. Young" on 1876 Davis Map; "I.
Young" on 1911 Washburn Map

48.19-1-17

48.19-1-43

7

32

MILE RD

MONTEBELLO RD

1870 1 FAMILY RES

1870 1 FAMILY RES

"A.S. Wanamaker" on 1887 Goldthwaite
Map; depicted, unlabeled on 1911 Washburn
Map

"T.W. Howell" on 1976 Davis Map; "Mrs.
Howell" on 1911 Washburn Map
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PROPERTIES SELECTED FOR POTENTIAL DESIGNATION

ParcellD

48.19-1-19

street #

37

street name

MONTEBELLO RD

Estimated Current Land Use

Construc.

Date

1820 1 FAMILY RES

APPENDIX C

Historical Notes

"J. Wannemaker" on 1854 O'Connor Map;
"P. Ward" on 1876 Davis Map; "Dr.
Patterson" on 1911 Washburn Map

48.19-1-25

51

MONTEBELLO RD

1778 1 FAMILY RES

"Henry Wanamaker 1778" on Tholl
Bicentennial Map; "L. Wannemaker" on 1854
O'Connor Map; "Wanamaker" on 1859
French Map; "G.R. Mapes" on 1876 Davis &
1887 Goldthwaite maps; not illustrated on
1911 Washburn Map!

48.17-1-2
48.17-1-17

115

MONTEBELLO RD
ORCHARD ST

1850 1 FAMILY RES
1890|1 FAMILY RES

"J.N. Wanamaker" on 1854 O'Connor Map
depicted, unlabeled, on 1911 Washburn
Map; probably the Jacob & Rosie Greenfield
House, developers of the Suffern Terrace
subdivision (Orchard St.) on their extensive
land holdings

41.17-1-11

48.16-1-5

49.13-1-13

144

199

220

SPOOK ROOK RD

SPOOK ROCK RD

SPOOK ROCK RD

1870/1 FAMILY RES

18401 FAMILY RES

1870/ CONVERTED
RESIDENCE

"S.Blauvelt" on 1876 Davis Map; "A.
Johnson" on 1911 Washburn Map; first
home of the Borsodi School of Living prior to
purchase of Bayard Lane property

"Young" on Clair Tholl historic map [1975];
"J. Young" on 1854 O'Connor Map; "J.T.
Young" on 1876 Davis & Goldthwaite maps;
"J. Young" on 1911 Washburn Map

"T. Johnson" on 1876 Davis Map; "J.
Lamont" on 1911 Washburn Map; Willson
Riding Academy 1968 site plan/special
permit

49.13-1-14

236

SPOOK ROCK RD

1850|1 FAMILY RES

"S.R. Johnson" on 1854 map

49.17-1-12

271

SPOOK ROCK RD

1880|1 FAMILY RES

"Zimmerman" on 1911 Washburn Map

48.7-1-17.1

20

VIOLA RD

1900/1 FAMILY RES

barns and outbldgs associated with the
Abbott Cooper estate on 1876 Davis Map

48.8-1-11.-1

48.12-1-4

49.5-1-17

49.5-1-15

24

37

84-86

96

VIOLA RD

VIOLA RD

VIOLA RD

VIOLA RD

1870
1976

- ESTATE

1870 1 FAMILY RES

1778 MULT
RESIDENCES

18201 FAMILY RES

Current bldg a 1976 expansion of an earlier
house (Damon-Goldberg property); "Putney"”
on 1911 Washburn Map; ice house may
remain from the Abbott Cooper estate
depicted on 1876 Davis Map; substantial
barns remain from 19th century period

"W. Springstein" on 1876 Davis Map;
"l.Young" on 1911 Washburn Map
"Johnson Farm"; Clair Tholl Map gives 1778
date; "W. Johnson" on 1854 O'Connor Map;
not depicted on 1876 Davis Map; "Levi
Johnson" on 1887 Goldwaithe Map; "L.
Johnson" on 1911 Washburn Map; locally
designated landmark

"R. Johnson" on 1854 O'Connor Map; "G.
Johnson" on 1876 Davis & 1887 Goldthwaite
maps; became known as the Walter F.
Feldmann Farm after this point & sold to
George W. Morgan 1909; "Morgan" on 1911
map; Richard Roderman of NYC purchased
in 1922

49.5-1-4

126

VIOLA RD

1850 MULT
RESIDENCES

"S. Johnson" on 1854 O'Connor & 1876
Davis maps; 1-29-1997 Rockland Journal
News reported fire in house; address
currently listed as # 4 Sycamore Lane as
part of "Gaybrook" 1991 subdivision

48.13-1-1

188

WAYNE AV

1850 1 FAMILY RES

Not depicted on historic maps - suggests
that it was moved to this site
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PROPERTIES SELECTED FOR POTENTIAL DESIGNATION

ParcellD

street #

street name

Estimated Current Land Use
Construc.

APPENDIX C

Historical Notes

Country Retrea

ts - Antiqua

rian

48.9-1-8

48.6-1-20

10

COLLINE DR

COPELAND DR

1870 1 FAMILY RES

1778/1 FAMILY RES

"T. Springsteen” on 1854 O'Connor Map; "C.
Zavistowski" on 1876 Davis Map; "W.F.
Taylor" on 1887 Goldthwaite Map; "Dr.
Hollister" on 1911 Washbburn Map; [Frank
Hollister, daughter Gloria Hollister]; included
in "Colline Properties" 1979 subdivision

Family Geneology by Lewis Conklin claims
land bought from Indians in 1750;
"Concklin's" on 1778 Erskin Map; "Conklin-
Sherwood 1778" on 1975 Tholl Bicentennial
Map; "J. Sherwood" on 1854 O'Connor, 1859
French, & 1876 Davis maps; "J.D.
Wannamaker" on 1887 G

48.6-1-16

48.6-1-17

48.9-1-4

48.7-1-32

48.7-1-7

314

452

519

COPELAND DR

COPELAND DR

HAVERSTRAW RD

HAVERSTRAW RD

HAVERSTRAW RD

18801 FAMILY RES

18801 FAMILY RES

1850/ TWO FAMILY RES

1830 1 FAMILY RES

1850 TWO FAMILY RES

originally associated with "Dexter Manor,"
possibly as a carriage house (since
converted to a dwelling); included in "Dexter
Manor" 1966 subdivision

originally associated with "Dexter Manor",
possibly as a barn (now converted to a
dwelling); included in "Dexter Manor" 1966
subdivision

"E. J. Stuart" on 1854 O'Connor Map; "Wm.
Bevans" on 1859 French Map; "W. Bevans"
on 1876 Davis Map; "E.J. Straut Est." on
1887 Goldthwaite Map; "Dennis" on 1911
Washburn Map; later the summer residence
of William Beaumont Putney, prominent
lawyer

"Conklin - Sherwood" on Tholl 1975
Bicentennial Map; tenant house associated
w/1 Copeland Dr.; "J. Sherwood" on 1854
O'Connor Map; "J. Dewey" on 1876 Davis
Map; "J.D. Wannamaker" on 1887
Goldthwaite Map; depicted but unlabeled on
1911 Washburn Map; Perfum

"J.J. Coe" on 1854 O'Connor Map; "A. Coe"
on 1876 Davis, 1887 Goldthwaite, & 1911
Washburn maps

40.19-1-34

40.20-1-29

48.7-1-53

556

603

HAVERSTRAW RD

HAVERSTRAW RD

KINGS GATE RD

1850|1 FAMILY RES

1870 1 FAMILY RES

1880 1 FAMILY RES

"I. [or J.] Depew" on 1854 O'Connor Map;
"J.H. Jordan" on 1876 Davis & 1887
Goldthwaite maps: "A.W. Coe" on 1911
Washburn Map

no bldg depicted on 1854 map--Blauvelt
property; "G.S. Conklin" on 1876 Davis &
1887 Goldthwaite maps; "W.F. Gurnee" on
1911 Washburn Map

"J.Crum" on 1854 O'Connor Map; "J.C.
Crum" on 1876 Davis & 1887 Goldthwaite
maps; "Pope" on 1911 Washburn Map

48.15-1-57

40

MILE RD

1870 1 FAMILY RES

"J.J. Quackenbush" on 1876 Davis Map;
"A.A. Ryan" on 1911 Washburn Map

48.19-1-10

63

MILE RD

18501 FAMILY RES

"C. Fredericks" on 1854 O'Connor Map;
"Jas. J. Wanamaker" on 1876 Davis Map
"J.J. Wanamaker" on 1887 Goldthwaite Map;
"Schweickart" on 1911 Washburn Map

48.18-2-10.3

62

MONTEBELLO RD

1898 1 FAMILY RES

"D.G." [D. Groesbeck] & "greenhouse" on
1876 Davis Map; Property redeveloped as
Thomas F. Ryan's winter home, "Fieldstone
Farm"; "J.J. Ryan" on 1911 Washburn Map
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PROPERTIES SELECTED FOR POTENTIAL DESIGNATION

ParcellD

49.17-1-2

street #

253 - 257

street name

SPOOK ROCK RD

Estimated Current Land Use
Construc.
Date

1850 MULT
RESIDENCES

APPENDIX C

Historical Notes

"J.Conklin" on 1854 O'Connor Map; "J.
Hunter" on 1859 map; "G. H. Soule" on 1876
Davis Map; "Abbott" on 1911 Washburn
Map; locally designated landmark: "Fant
Farm"

48.7-1-14

49.5-1-7

Country Retrea

106

ts - Gilded

VIOLA RD

VIOLA RD

Age

48.8-1-51

48.8-1-52

3

COBBLESTONE FARM CT

COBBLESTONE FARM CT

1860 1 FAMILY RES

1870/1 FAMILY RES

1907|1 FAMILY RES

19071 FAMILY RES

grist & saw mills depicted in this location on
1854 O'Connor Map; "J.J. Coe s.mill" on
1876 Davis Map; "J.J. Coe" on 1887
Goldthwaite Map; "Joy" on 1911 Washburn
Map, known as "Joylands"

"T. Cookfaice" on 1876 Davis Map; "H. Paul"
on 1911 Washburn Map; deed info: Henry
Paul

Henry von L. Meyer Estate; on 1911
Washburn map; original cobblestone barn for
"Cobblestone Farm"

Henry von L. Meyer Estate; on 1911
Washburn map; barns & outbuildings
associated with "Cobblestone Farm"

48.8-1-38

EMERALD LA

1909|1 FAMILY RES

Sited on the Aaron Blauvelt Quakenbush
Estate, per the Bicentennial/Tholl Map; "R.
Quackenbush" on 1854 O'Connor Map; "Mrs.
Quackenbush" on 1876 Davis Map; "A.A.
(sic - A.J.) Smith" on 1911 Washburn Map;
Designed by William Adams, Manhattan-
based architect

48.19-1-41

48.18-2-2

48.18-2-1.11

38

61

75

MONTEBELLO RD

MONTEBELLO RD

MONTEBELLO RD

1905 RELIGIOUS

19021 FAMILY RES

1901/ OFFICE BUILDING

"Barry Moore" Estate built for John Barry
Ryan by his mother Mrs. Thomas Fortune
Ryan; AKA ; "G.W. Morgan" on 1911
Washburn Map; George W. Morgan died in
1931; most of the original property sold by
widow Morgan to the Ramapo School District
in 1941; by 1

gatehouse for "Montebello"/ Thomas Ryan
Estate; on 1911 Washburn Map

Thomas Fortune and Ida Ryan's Mansion,
"Montebello" locally designated landmark

48.14-1-3.-1

49.9-1-2

Borsodi Schoo

103

183

MONTEBELLO RD

SPOOK ROCK RD

| of Living District

1850|1 FAMILY RES

1890 1 FAMILY RES

May have remnants of ¢.1850 A.P. Frederick
House; Owned by Ida Ryan as a part of the
Montebello Estate; sold to Charles A. Pace
in late 1920; purchased by Blind Players
Club of NYC in 1921, which made extensive
improvement--probably the Craftsman styled
projecting Rt. ell

not on 1876 Davis or 1887 Goldthwaite
maps; depicted, "I. Young" on 1907 School
District #9 Map; depicted unlabeled on 1911
Washburn Map; 9-7-1893 Nyack Journal
article: "lIra Young adding wing to his house"

48.10-1-76 9 BAYARD LA 19351 FAMILY RES surveyed 1935; "Bayard Lane School of
Living" subdivision filed 1940

48.10-1-75 11 BAYARD LA 19351 FAMILY RES surveyed 1935; "Bayard Lane School of
Living" subdivision filed 1940

48.10-1-82 12 BAYARD LA 1939 1 FAMILY RES surveyed 1935; "Bayard Lane School of
Living" subdivision filed 1940; alterations
1996 & 2004

48.10-1-81 14 BAYARD LA 19351 FAMILY RES surveyed 1935; "Bayard Lane School of
Living" subdivision filed 1940

48.10-1-80 16 BAYARD LA 1939 1 FAMILY RES surveyed 1935; "Bayard Lane School of
Living" subdivision filed 1940; 1955 front
porch addition

48.10-1-74 17 BAYARD LA 19351 FAMILY RES surveyed 1935; "Bayard Lane School of

Living" subdivision filed 1940
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PROPERTIES SELECTED FOR POTENTIAL DESIGNATION

APPENDIX C

ParcellD street # |street name Estimated | Current Land Use | Historical Notes
Construc.
Date

48.10-1-77 19 BAYARD LA 1984|1 FAMILY RES surveyed 1935; "Bayard Lane School of
Living" subdivision filed 1940

48.10-1-78 21 BAYARD LA 19331 FAMILY RES surveyed 1935; "Bayard Lane School of
Living" subdivision filed 1940

48.10-1-72 22 BAYARD LA 19551 FAMILY RES surveyed 1935; "Bayard Lane School of
Living" subdivision filed 1940

48.10-1-79 23 BAYARD LA 19571 FAMILY RES surveyed 1935; "Bayard Lane School of
Living" subdivision filed 1940; porch
enclosed 2000

48.10-1-68 26 BAYARD LA 1936 1 FAMILY RES surveyed 1935; "Bayard Lane School of
Living" subdivision filed 1940

48.10-1-73 29 BAYARD LA 19351 FAMILY RES surveyed 1935; "Bayard Lane School of
Living" subdivision filed 1940

48.10-1-69 32 BAYARD LA 19541 FAMILY RES surveyed 1935; "Bayard Lane School of
Living" subdivision filed 1940

48.10-1-70 34 BAYARD LA 19391 FAMILY RES surveyed 1935; "Bayard Lane School of
Living" subdivision filed 1940; alterations &
converted garage to SF dwelling 2006

48.10-1-67 35 BAYARD LA 1939 1 FAMILY RES surveyed 1935; "Bayard Lane School of
Living" subdivision filed 1940

48.10-1-66 37 BAYARD LA 19351 FAMILY RES surveyed 1935; "Bayard Lane School of
Living" subdivision filed 1940; "Shipard
Homestead" on Bldg Permit; 1990 screen
porch addition

48.10-1-65 39 BAYARD LA 1937 1 FAMILY RES surveyed 1935; "Bayard Lane School of
Living" subdivision filed 1940

48.10-1-64 41 BAYARD LA 19351 FAMILY RES surveyed 1935; "Bayard Lane School of
Living" subdivision filed 1940

48.11-1-5 42 BAYARD LA 1939 MULT surveyed 1935; "Bayard Lane School of

RESIDENCES Living" subdivision filed 1940; 1941 garage

connection to house; 1982 addition to house

48.10-1-63 43 BAYARD LA 1937 1 FAMILY RES surveyed 1935; "Bayard Lane School of
Living" subdivision filed 1940; 1963 addition;
detached garage 2003

48.10-1-13.1 3 BAYARD LA S 20031 FAMILY RES surveyed 1935; "Bayard Lane School of
Living" subdivision filed 1940

48.10-1-14 367 HAVERSTRAW RD 19351 FAMILY RES surveyed 1935; "Bayard Lane School of
Living" subdivision filed 1940

48.10-1-13.2 377 HAVERSTRAW RD 1940 1 FAMILY RES surveyed 1935; "Bayard Lane School of

Montebello - Lake Road Di

strict

Living" subdivision filed 1940

48.17-1-0 MONTEBELLO RD ROW 1930 STRUCTURE - stone-faced plate girder bridge; on NYS
Inventory of Historic Bridges (BIN 3346120);
likely constructed as a Works Progress
Admininistration project

48.17-1-25 1 LAKE RD 19251 FAMILY RES Lester & Alice Mitchell House

48.17-1-26 3 LAKE RD 1975 TWO FAMILY RES

48.17-1-27 LAKE RD 1927/1 FAMILY RES

48.17-1-2 115 MONTEBELLO RD 1850|1 FAMILY RES "J.N. Wanamaker" on 1854 O'Connor Map

48.17-1-9 36 MEMORIAL DR 1910 1 FAMILY RES "Lexow" on 1911 Washburn Map; Morton &
May Lexow House per Deed info 825:1097

48.17-1-5 1 BROOKLANDS 1946/1 FAMILY RES REAR PORTION /RIVER FRONTAGE
ONLY

48.17-1-6 3 BROOKLANDS 1946/1 FAMILY RES REAR PORTION /RIVER FRONTAGE
ONLY

48.17-1-7 5 BROOKLANDS 1950/1 FAMILY RES REAR PORTION /RIVER FRONTAGE
ONLY

Mid-20th Century District - Montebello Estates Subdivision Sections 1 - 4A (1948- 58)

48.18-2-3 1 EAST PL 19541 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 2" 1949
subdivision; 1955 Certif. of Occupancy;
Architect: Laurence R. Moon; Builder: Elbuff
Corp.

48.18-2-4 3 EAST PL 19721 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 2" 1949
subdivision
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PROPERTIES SELECTED FOR POTENTIAL DESIGNATION

APPENDIX C

ParcellD street # | street name Estimated Current Land Use | Historical Notes
Construc.
Date

48.18-2-5 5 EAST PL 1998 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 2" 1949
subdivision

48.14-1-82 6 EAST PL 1966 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 2" 1949
subdivision; 1966 Certif. of Occupancy

48.18-2-6 7 EAST PL 1951 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 2" 1949
subdivision; 1951 Certif. of Occupancy;
Architect: Charles L. Dippre

48.14-1-83 8 EAST PL 20051 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 2" 1949
subdivision

48.15-2-44 9 EAST PL 19581 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 2" 1949
subdivision; 1958 Certif. of Occupancy;
Frank Russo developer; 1st owner occupant:
William Gross

48.14-1-84 10 EAST PL 2006 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 2" 1949
subdivision; original house blt. 1957;
rebuilt/remodeled 2006, Joseph J. Bruno,
Architect

48.15-2-43 11 EAST PL 19741 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 2" 1949
subdivision

48.14-1-85 12 EAST PL 1956 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 2" 1949
subdivision; 1956 Certif. of Occupancy
issued to "Ramapo Hills, Inc."

48.14-1-81 9 MAYER DR 1963 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 2" 1949
subdivision

48.14-1-80 11 MAYER DR 1955 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 2" 1949
subdivision

48.14-1-79 15 MAYER DR 1958 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 2" 1949
subdivision

48.14-1-78 17 MAYER DR 1975 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 2" 1949
subdivision

48.14-1-45 18 MAYER DR 1956 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 2" 1949
subdivision

48.14-1-77 19 MAYER DR 1975 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 2" 1949
subdivision

48.14-1-46 20 MAYER DR 1964 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 2" 1949
subdivision

48.14-1-76 21 MAYER DR 1957 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 2" 1949
subdivision

48.14-1-75 23 MAYER DR 1956 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.14-1-74 25 MAYER DR 1960 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.14-1-73 27 MAYER DR 1958 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.14-1-72 31 MAYER DR 1960 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.14-1-64 32 MAYER DR 1950 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.14-1-71 33 MAYER DR 1950 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.14-1-69 35 MAYER DR 1955 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.10-1-59 37 MAYER DR 2000 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.14-1-65 38 MAYER DR 19521 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.10-1-58 39 MAYER DR 1980 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.10-1-57 41 MAYER DR 1949 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.14-1-66 42 MAYER DR 1950 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.10-1-56 43 MAYER DR 1989 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.14-1-67 44 MAYER DR 1949 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.10-1-55 47 MAYER DR 1953 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision
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PROPERTIES SELECTED FOR POTENTIAL DESIGNATION

APPENDIX C

ParcellD street # | street name Estimated Current Land Use | Historical Notes
Construc.
Date

48.14-1-68 48 MAYER DR 19751 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.10-1-27 50 MAYER DR 1950 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.10-1-54 51 MAYER DR 1957 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.10-1-53 53 MAYER DR 2000 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.10-1-52 55 MAYER DR 1997 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.10-1-28 56 MAYER DR 1965 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.10-1-51 57 MAYER DR 1950 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.10-1-29 58 MAYER DR 2008 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.10-1-30 60 MAYER DR 1950 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.15-2-1 1 MAYER DR E 1965 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-2-2 3 MAYER DR E 1968 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-2-3 5 MAYER DR E 1975 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.10-1-62 6 MAYER DR E 1987 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-2-4 7 MAYER DR E 1974 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-1-1 8 MAYER DR E 1980 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-1-2 10 MAYER DR E 1965 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-2-6 11 MAYER DR E 1963 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-1-3 12 MAYER DR E 1960 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-2-7 13 MAYER DR E 1964 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-1-4 14 MAYER DR E 1960 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-2-8 15 MAYER DR E 1964 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-1-5 16 MAYER DR E 1962 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-2-9 17 MAYER DR E 1960 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-1-6 18 MAYER DR E 1963 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-2-10 19 MAYER DR E 1962 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-1-18 20 MAYER DR E 1962 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-2-11 21 MAYER DR E 1960 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-1-19 22 MAYER DR E 1963 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-2-12 23 MAYER DR E 1970 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-1-20 24 MAYER DR E 1963 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-2-15 31 MAYER DR E 1965 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 4A" 1958
subdivision (revised in Sec. 4C 1962)

48.15-2-16 33 MAYER DR E 1964 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-2-17 35 MAYER DR E 1962 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-2-18 37 MAYER DR E 1962 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 4A" 1958

subdivision
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48.15-1-28 40 MAYER DR E 1963 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 4C" 1962
subdivision

48.15-1-42 37 MILE RD 1962 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-1-31 43 MILE RD 1984 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-1-30 45 MILE RD 1960 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-1-29 47 MILE RD 1960 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-2-20 51 MILE RD 1964/1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.18-2-7 55 MONTEBELLO RD 19751 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 2" 1949
subdivision

48.18-2-8 57 MONTEBELLO RD 19531 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 2" 1949
subdivision

48.18-2-9 59 MONTEBELLO RD 1963 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 2" 1949
subdivision

48.14-1-24 1 MORIAH LA 1961 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec 3" 1956 subdivision

48.14-1-25 3 MORIAH LA 1960 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec 3" 1956 subdivision

48.14-1-26 5 MORIAH LA 1961 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec 3" 1956 subdivision

48.14-1-27 7 MORIAH LA 1960 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec 3" 1956 subdivision

48.14-1-28 9 MORIAH LA 1961 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec 3" 1956 subdivision

48.14-1-29 13 MORIAH LA 1962 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec 3" 1956 subdivision

48.14-1-30 15 MORIAH LA 2009/1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec 3" 1956 subdivision

48.14-1-44 20 MORIAH LA 19671 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec 3" 1956 subdivision

48.15-1-37 3 NOTTINGHAM DR 1960 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-1-36 5 NOTTINGHAM DR 1965 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-1-40 12 NOTTINGHAM DR 19651 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-1-33 13 NOTTINGHAM DR 1990 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-1-41 16 NOTTINGHAM DR 1965 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.14-1-22 1 RIVER RD 1962 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 3" 1956
subdivision

48.14-1-21 2 RIVER RD 1959 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 3" 1956
subdivision; 2008 alterations

48.14-1-23 3 RIVER RD 1960 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 3" 1956
subdivision; 1962 & 1973 additions

48.14-1-20 4 RIVER RD 1959 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 3" 1956
subdivision; 1974 greenhouse addition

48.14-1-31 5 RIVER RD 1961 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 3" 1956
subdivision; 1991 deck addition

48.14-1-32 7 RIVER RD 1961 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 3" 1956
subdivision

48.14-1-18 8 RIVER RD 1959 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 3" 1956
subdivision; 1963 family room addition; 1965
addition

48.14-1-33 9 RIVER RD 1959 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 3" 1956
subdivision; 1966 room addition

48.14-1-17 10 RIVER RD 1959 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 3" 1956
subdivision

48.14-1-16 12 RIVER RD 1960 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 3" 1956
subdivision

48.14-1-15 14 RIVER RD 1960 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 3" 1956

subdivision
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48.14-1-41 15 RIVER RD 1964 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 3" 1956
subdivision

48.14-1-14 16 RIVER RD 1961 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 3" 1956
subdivision

48.14-1-42 17 RIVER RD 1957 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 3" 1956
subdivision; 2005 addition; 2007 deck
addition

48.14-1-13 18 RIVER RD 19611 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 3" 1956
subdivision; 1996 deck addition

48.14-1-12 20 RIVER RD 19621 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 3" 1956
subdivision; 1971 2-story rear addition; 1992
porch enclosed

48.14-1-11 22 RIVER RD 1962 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 3" 1956
subdivision; 1997 & 2002 additions

48.14-1-10 24 RIVER RD 1960 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 3" 1956
subdivision

48.14-1-9 26 RIVER RD 1957 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 3" 1956
subdivision; 1959 addition; 1991 deck
addition

48.14-1-8 28 RIVER RD 1958 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 3" 1956
subdivision

48.15-2-35 1 ROBIN HOOD RD 1968 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-2-5 2 ROBIN HOOD RD 1962 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-2-36 3 ROBIN HOOD RD 1966 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-2-34 4 ROBIN HOOD RD 1965 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-2-37 5 ROBIN HOOD RD 19751 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-2-33 6 ROBIN HOOD RD 1965 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-2-38 7 ROBIN HOOD RD 19751 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-2-32 8 ROBIN HOOD RD 1965 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-2-39 9 ROBIN HOOD RD 1963 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-2-31 10 ROBIN HOOD RD 1966 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-2-40 11 ROBIN HOOD RD 19651 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 4A" 1958
subdivision; Roy Reinertsen, Architect; firm:
Vin-Roy

48.14-1-40 3 ROCKLYN DR 1961 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 3" 1956
subdivision

48.14-1-34 4 ROCKLYN DR 1960 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 3" 1956
subdivision

48.14-1-35 6 ROCKLYN DR 1961 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 3" 1956
subdivision

48.14-1-39 7 ROCKLYN DR 1960 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 3" 1956
subdivision

48.14-1-38 11 ROCKLYN DR 1960 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 3" 1956
subdivision

48.14-1-37 13 ROCKLYN DR 19721 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 3" 1956
subdivision; 1989 garage addition

48.14-1-36 15 ROCKLYN DR 1979 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 3" 1956
subdivision; 1993 & 2002 additions

48.15-1-7 5 STERLING FOREST LA 1964 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-1-17 6 STERLING FOREST LA 1975 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-1-8 7 STERLING FOREST LA 1965 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-1-16 8 STERLING FOREST LA 1964 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-1-9 9 STERLING FOREST LA 1964 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 4A" 1958

subdivision
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48.15-1-15 10 STERLING FOREST LA 1980 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-1-10 11 STERLING FOREST LA 1960 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-1-14 12 STERLING FOREST LA 1960 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-1-11 13 STERLING FOREST LA 1965 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-1-13 14 STERLING FOREST LA 1960 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.15-1-12 15 STERLING FOREST LA 1960 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Section 4A" 1958
subdivision

48.14-1-63 1 VICTORY RD 1953 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.14-1-47 2 VICTORY RD 1960 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.14-1-62 3 VICTORY RD 1960 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.14-1-61 5 VICTORY RD 1956 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.14-1-48 6 VICTORY RD 1952 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.14-1-59 9 VICTORY RD 1950 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.14-1-49 10 VICTORY RD 1966 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.14-1-50 12 VICTORY RD 1950 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.14-1-58 13 VICTORY RD 1950 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.14-1-51 14 VICTORY RD 1965 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.10-1-26 15 VICTORY RD 1950 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.14-1-52 16 VICTORY RD 1950 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.10-1-25 17 VICTORY RD 1950 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.14-1-53 18 VICTORY RD 1953 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.10-1-24 19 VICTORY RD 2008 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.14-1-54 20 VICTORY RD 1951 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.10-1-23 21 VICTORY RD 1963 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.14-1-55 22 VICTORY RD 19521 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.10-1-22 23 VICTORY RD 1950 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.14-1-56 24 VICTORY RD 1963 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.10-1-21 25 VICTORY RD 1955 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.14-1-57 26 VICTORY RD 1960 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.10-1-20 27 VICTORY RD 1949 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949
subdivision

48.10-1-31 29 VICTORY RD 1955 1 FAMILY RES "Montebello Estates Sec. 1" 1949

subdivision; Ramapo Hill
illustrated in9-30-1955 R
Journal-New article

s Model Home
ockland County
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Mid-20th Century District - Deer Kill Estates Subdivision (1958)

40.19-1-19 1 KEVIN DR 1940/1 FAMILY RES "Deer Kill Estates" 1958 subdivision; 1946
bldg permit for large addition to barn; 1955
bldg permit to Wilber W. Ward for porch
addition; 1957 bldg permit for 2-car garage
(1959 C. of O.); 2002 bldg permit for 2nd
story addition

40.19-1-20 3 KEVIN DR 1962|1 FAMILY RES "Deer Kill Estates" 1958 subdivision; 1962
Certif. of Occupancy

40.19-1-25 4 KEVIN DR 1980|/1 FAMILY RES "Deer Kill Estates" 1958 subdivision; 1980
Certif. of Occupancy

40.19-1-21 5 KEVIN DR 1962|1 FAMILY RES "Deer Kill Estates" 1958 subdivision; 1962
Certif. of Occupancy

40.19-1-24 6 KEVIN DR 1964|1 FAMILY RES "Deer Kill Estates" 1958 subdivision; 1964
Certif. of Occupancy

40.19-1-22 7 KEVIN DR 19631 FAMILY RES "Deer Kill Estates" 1958 subdivision; 1963
Certif. of Occupancy

40.19-1-23 8 KEVIN DR 19631 FAMILY RES "Deer Kill Estates" 1958 subdivision; 1963
Certif. of Occupancy

48.8-1-5 9 KEVIN DR 1960 1 FAMILY RES "Deer Kill Estates" 1958 subdivision; 1960
Certif. of Occupancy

48.8-1-6 10 KEVIN DR 1960 1 FAMILY RES "Deer Kill Estates" 1958 subdivision; 1960
Certif. of Occupancy

48.8-1-4 11 KEVIN DR 1960 1 FAMILY RES "Deer Kill Estates" 1958 subdivision

48.8-1-7 12 KEVIN DR 1960 1 FAMILY RES "Deer Kill Estates" 1958 subdivision

48.8-1-3 13 KEVIN DR 19601 FAMILY RES "Deer Kill Estates" 1958 subdivision

48.8-1-8 14 KEVIN DR 19611 FAMILY RES "Deer Kill Estates" 1958 subdivision

48.8-1-2 15 KEVIN DR 1964|1 FAMILY RES "Deer Kill Estates" 1958 subdivision

48.8-1-9 16 KEVIN DR 1960 1 FAMILY RES "Deer Kill Estates" 1958 subdivision

48.8-1-1 17 KEVIN DR 19651 FAMILY RES "Deer Kill Estates" 1958 subdivision; 1965
Certificate of Occupancy

48.8-1-10 18 KEVIN DR 19611 FAMILY RES "Deer Kill Estates" 1958 subdivision

40.19-1-26 537 HAVERSTRAW RD 1960 1 FAMILY RES Deer Kill Estates 1958 subdivision

Future Potential Historic Districts - Charnwood Forest

Subdivision (1965)

48.11-1-39 2 CHARNWOOD DR 1970/1 FAMILY RES "Charnwood Forest in Ramapo Hills" 1965
subdivision

48.11-1-41 4 CHARNWOOD DR 1975/1 FAMILY RES "Charnwood Forest in Ramapo Hills" 1965
subdivision

48.11-1-42 6 CHARNWOOD DR 19651 FAMILY RES "Charnwood Forest in Ramapo Hills" 1965
subdivision

48.11-1-37 7 CHARNWOOD DR 1970 1 FAMILY RES "Charnwood Forest in Ramapo Hills" 1965
subdivision

48.11-1-43 8 CHARNWOOD DR 1990 1 FAMILY RES "Charnwood Forest in Ramapo Hills" 1965
subdivision

48.11-1-36 9 CHARNWOOD DR 1974 1 FAMILY RES "Charnwood Forest in Ramapo Hills" 1965
subdivision

48.11-1-44 10 CHARNWOOD DR 1974 1 FAMILY RES "Charnwood Forest in Ramapo Hills" 1965
subdivision

48.11-1-35 11 CHARNWOOD DR 19751 FAMILY RES "Charnwood Forest in Ramapo Hills" 1965
subdivision

48.11-1-45 12 CHARNWOOD DR 19721 FAMILY RES "Charnwood Forest in Ramapo Hills" 1965
subdivision

48.15-1-51 13 CHARNWOOD DR 1967 1 FAMILY RES "Charnwood Forest in Ramapo Hills" 1965
subdivision

48.12-1-46 14 CHARNWOOD DR 1975/1 FAMILY RES "Charnwood Forest in Ramapo Hills" 1965
subdivision

48.15-1-52 15 CHARNWOOD DR 19671 FAMILY RES "Charnwood Forest in Ramapo Hills" 1965
subdivision

48.12-1-45 16 CHARNWOOD DR 19701 FAMILY RES "Charnwood Forest in Ramapo Hills" 1965
subdivision

48.16-1-4 17 CHARNWOOD DR 1967/ TWO FAMILY RES "Charnwood Forest in Ramapo Hills" 1965
subdivision

48.12-1-44 18 CHARNWOOD DR 1967|1 FAMILY RES "Charnwood Forest in Ramapo Hills" 1965
subdivision

48.12-1-43 20 CHARNWOOD DR 1966/1 FAMILY RES "Charnwood Forest in Ramapo Hills" 1965
subdivision

48.15-1-45 1 DRUID CT 1970 1 FAMILY RES "Charnwood Forest in Ramapo Hills" 1965

subdivision
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48.11-1-32 2 DRUID CT 1968 1 FAMILY RES "Charnwood Forest in Ramapo Hills" 1965
subdivision

48.15-1-46 3 DRUID CT 19671 FAMILY RES "Charnwood Forest in Ramapo Hills" 1965
subdivision

48.11-1-33 4 DRUID CT 19751 FAMILY RES "Charnwood Forest in Ramapo Hills" 1965
subdivision

48.15-1-47 5 DRUID CT 1972/1 FAMILY RES "Charnwood Forest in Ramapo Hills" 1965
subdivision

48.11-1-34 6 DRUID CT 19751 FAMILY RES "Charnwood Forest in Ramapo Hills" 1965
subdivision

48.15-1-48 7 DRUID CT 1970 1 FAMILY RES "Charnwood Forest in Ramapo Hills" 1965
subdivision

48.15-1-50 8 DRUID CT 1968 1 FAMILY RES "Charnwood Forest in Ramapo Hills" 1965
subdivision

48.15-1-49 10 DRUID CT 1968 1 FAMILY RES "Charnwood Forest in Ramapo Hills" 1965
subdivision

48.15-1-53 3 LONGBOW RD 1966 1 FAMILY RES "Charnwood Forest in Ramapo Hills" 1965
subdivision

48.16-1-3 4 LONGBOW RD 19671 FAMILY RES "Charnwood Forest in Ramapo Hills" 1965
subdivision

48.16-1-2 6 LONGBOW RD 1966 1 FAMILY RES "Charnwood Forest in Ramapo Hills" 1965
subdivision

48.16-1-1 8 LONGBOW RD 1966 1 FAMILY RES "Charnwood Forest in Ramapo Hills" 1965
subdivision

48.15-1-55 10 LONGBOW RD 19731 FAMILY RES "Charnwood Forest in Ramapo Hills" 1965
subdivision

Future Potential Historic Districts - Suffern Knolls Subdivision (1966)

48.15-2-61 1 BRIGADOON DR 1967|1 FAMILY RES "Suffern Knolls" 1966 subdivision

48.19-1-5 3 BRIGADOON DR 19671 FAMILY RES "Suffern Knolls" 1966 subdivision

48.19-1-9 4 BRIGADOON DR 19671 FAMILY RES "Suffern Knolls" 1966 subdivision

48.19-1-6 5 BRIGADOON DR 19671 FAMILY RES "Suffern Knolls" 1966 subdivision

48.19-1-8 6 BRIGADOON DR 19671 FAMILY RES "Suffern Knolls" 1966 subdivision

48.19-1-7 8 BRIGADOON DR 19761 FAMILY RES

48.15-2-62 3 HEATHERHILL LA 1966/1 FAMILY RES "Suffern Knolls" 1966 subdivision; 1966
Certif. of Occupancy issued to Suffern
Knolls, Inc.

48.15-2-22 4 HEATHERHILL LA 1967|1 FAMILY RES "Suffern Knolls" 1966 subdivision; 1967
Certif. of Occupancy

48.15-2-23 6 HEATHERHILL LA 1966/1 FAMILY RES "Suffern Knolls" 1966 subdivision; 1966
Certif. of Occupancy

48.15-2-24 8 HEATHERHILL LA 19671 FAMILY RES "Suffern Knolls" 1966 subdivision;1967
Certif. of Occupancy

48.15-2-25 10 HEATHERHILL LA 19671 FAMILY RES "Suffern Knolls" 1966 subdivision; 1967
Certif. of Occupancy

48.15-2-57 11 HEATHERHILL LA 19671 FAMILY RES "Suffern Knolls" 1966 subdivision; 1967
Certif. of Occupancy

48.15-2-26 12 HEATHERHILL LA 19671 FAMILY RES "Suffern Knolls" 1966 subdivision; 1967
Certif. of Occupancy

48.15-2-56 13 HEATHERHILL LA 19671 FAMILY RES "Suffern Knolls" 1966 subdivision; 1967
Certif. of Occupancy

48.15-2-27 14 HEATHERHILL LA 1966/1 FAMILY RES "Suffern Knolls" 1966 subdivision; 1966
Certif. of Occupancy; later
additions/alterations

48.15-2-55 15 HEATHERHILL LA 1968|1 FAMILY RES "Suffern Knolls" 1966 subdivision; 1968
Certificate of Occupancy

48.15-2-28 16 HEATHERHILL LA 1967|1 FAMILY RES "Suffern Knolls" 1966 subdivision; 1967
Certif. of Occupancy

48.15-2-54 17 HEATHERHILL LA 1967|1 FAMILY RES "Suffern Knolls" 1966 subdivision; 1967
Certif. of Occupancy; 2004 bldg permit to
convert carport to garage

48.15-2-29 18 HEATHERHILL LA 1967|1 FAMILY RES "Suffern Knolls" 1966 subdivision; 1967
Certif. of Occupancy

48.15-2-30 20 HEATHERHILL LA 19671 FAMILY RES "Suffern Knolls" 1966 subdivision; 1967
Certif. of Occupancy

48.15-2-41 13 ROBIN HOOD RD 19671 FAMILY RES "Suffern Knolls" 1966 subdivision; Certif. of

Occupancy issued 1967; 1997 2-car garage
addition
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48.15-2-42 15 ROBIN HOOD RD 19671 FAMILY RES "Suffern Knolls" 1966 subdivision
48.15-2-53 16 ROBIN HOOD RD 1967|1 FAMILY RES "Suffern Knolls" 1966 subdivision
48.15-2-52 18 ROBIN HOOD RD 19671 FAMILY RES "Suffern Knolls" 1966 subdivision
48.15-2-47 19 ROBIN HOOD RD 1967|1 FAMILY RES "Suffern Knolls" 1966 subdivision
48.15-2-51 20 ROBIN HOOD RD 1968 1 FAMILY RES "Suffern Knolls" 1966 subdivision
48.15-2-48 21 ROBIN HOOD RD 19671 FAMILY RES "Suffern Knolls" 1966 subdivision
48.15-2-50 22 ROBIN HOOD RD 1967 1 FAMILY RES "Suffern Knolls" 1966 subdivision
48.19-1-1 23 ROBIN HOOD RD 1967|1 FAMILY RES "Suffern Knolls" 1966 subdivision
48.15-2-49 24 ROBIN HOOD RD 1967/1 FAMILY RES "Suffern Knolls" 1966 subdivision
48.19-1-2 25 ROBIN HOOD RD 1967|1 FAMILY RES "Suffern Knolls" 1966 subdivision
48.15-2-58 26 ROBIN HOOD RD 1967/1 FAMILY RES "Suffern Knolls" 1966 subdivision
48.19-1-3 27 ROBIN HOOD RD 1971/1 FAMILY RES "Suffern Knolls" 1966 subdivision
48.15-2-59 28 ROBIN HOOD RD 1967 1 FAMILY RES "Suffern Knolls" 1966 subdivision; 1997 roof

replaced

48.19-1-4 29 ROBIN HOOD RD 1970 1 FAMILY RES "Suffern Knolls" 1966 subdivision
48.15-2-60 31 ROBIN HOOD RD 19751 FAMILY RES "Suffern Knolls" 1966 subdivision
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